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511.681.628.965
64.200.288.319
312.300.222.025
7.251.167.662
22.707.279.748
6.333.794.951
21.617.639.384
946.092.021.054

2020
vy

471.154.975.668
10.119.965.833
338.039.529.433
8.368.365.032
11.790.349.489
695.961.108
23.433.559.405
863.602.705.968

64.177.017.164
448.656.831.182
16.205.850.813
8.771.320.278
537.811.019.437

46.806.041.766
30.000.659.125
408.629.076.591
13.770.628.121
9.655.727.115
508.862.132.718

420.600.037.500

2.130.187.655
(14.449.223.538)
408.281.001.617

380.900.025.000
2.130.187.655
(28.289.639.405)
354.740.573.250

946.092.021.054

863.602.705.968
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(394418 34.917.526.405  (13.607.291.270)
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AUDUONNIUIU (AT QI1WIUB (262.824.250) (240.753.272)
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90T 1ar MuRuHio 22 (6.876.785.516) (5.428.655.695)
mu;jyu’ﬁju (Ra mcé’s.u,qum 8,9,10 (4.152.817.759) (3.751.385.894)
A21U3197219 (21.704.182.140)  (20.204.995.786)
111(2319U9IN9 13.840.415.867  (32.946.207.514)
A1ULUINDUNA 24 - -
Nnatagaviwratud 13.840.415.867  (32.946.207.514)
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79.400.025.000

380.900.025.000

d1s599010
ATUJUNIY

111

1.714.014.602

416.173.053

2.130.187.655

(21auin)/
Nnatagzsu

v

5.072.741.162

(32.946.207.514)

(416.173.053)

(28.289.639.405)

834

308.286.755.764
79.400.025.000

(32.946.207.514)

354.740.573.250

380.900.025.000

39.700.012.500

420.600.037.500

2.130.187.655

2.130.187.655

(28.289.639.405)

13.840.415.867

(14.449.223.538)

354.740.573.250
39.700.012.500

13.840.415.867

408.281.001.617
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2021
b 111

13.840.415.867

1.466.024.484
2.644.426.735
311.901.339

1.196.489.685

(1.468.588.018)
(53.609.909.415)

19.146.336.524

(16.472.902.799)
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2020
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(32.946.207.514)

47.787.676.922
2.368.326.607
209.059.940

1.173.999.347

(1.400.174.004)
(53.528.368.719)

20.820.110.634

(15.515.576.787)

(34.132.693.203)

(50.000.000.000)

22.859.899.286
2.619.617.462
17.370.975.398
(30.000.659.125)
34.365.889.935
2.324.153.754
52.726.919.659

(18.955.975.271)

(17.294.774.904)

61.566.306.777

33.415.722.389
(3.232.531.455)
7.660.808.776
(86.000.080.000)
(62.464.867.691)
1.246.676.975
50.720.416.687
(23.487.407.515)

(1.134.392.567)

(37.224.924.411)
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(13.561.356.994)

(5.949.735.182)

(19.511.092.176)

(1.224.321.961)

(250.107.000)

(1.474.428.961)

(963.699.152)
39.700.012.500
38.736.313.348

(869.224.344)
79.400.025.000
78.530.800.656

1.930.446.268

95.631.593.587

8.543.836.312

106.105.876.167

39.831.447.284

52.667.181.827

3.132.964.476

95.631.593.587
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A <« o

10. Sududajnviidodu

niutdisutmonjofiuusniisgsgugudisi UI0oRY SIRFVTIUINSVH 31 Hiuor 2021 JHIU:

tU((J,]JJﬂSJJlﬁa[ﬁ ﬁ’lﬁjﬁ‘ljﬁnj"m* Aau
iy 1y Ny

Gudiv:
Tudui 1 Jynsw 2021 8.032.065.119 - 8.032.065.119
(i UEnTuD 1.021.182.608 4.928.552.574 5.949.735.182
(uduai 31 vivaa 2021 9.053.247.727 4.928.552.574 13.981.800.301
a1c3suyuargzdu
TS 1 Dynsw (7.336.104.011) - (7.336.104.011)
mcé”suctnﬁ (311.901.339) - (311.901.339)
udus 31 givaa 2021 (7.648.005.350) - (7.648.005.350)
yuaInwitug gavity
Juui 31 vivaa 2021 1.405.242.377 4.928.552.574 6.333.794.951

Sudufisniuitofuninidgnauiliuguiutaszd 2021 clunjogejfivlaimuitiniulagayugiogiu
(Wocdugsnyiuaziy.

niutdisutmozejueniyfieesIZuduu ifofiugSu Jugndui 31 :iuol 2020 JAHIU:

IUc:nafuﬁa:ﬁ ﬁ’lﬁjﬁ:[ﬁnj’m Aau
v v fiu

Gudiv:
TuSwi 1 Jgnsw 2020 7.781.958.119 - 7.781.958.119
(W uSuTud 250.107.000 - 250.107.000
tudus 31 diuaa 2020 8.032.065.119 - 8.032.065.119
a1c3auyuargzdu
TuSuii 1 Jgnsw 2020 (7.127.044.071) - (7.127.044.071)
a8 LuD (209.059.940) - (209.059.940)
tuduui 31 ¥iuaa 2020 (7.336.104.011) - (7.336.104.011)

yuanwiiug gavity
duui 31 ¥ivaa 2020 695.961.108 - 695.961.108
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11. Sugusu9

2021
fiu

Q118218209001 (i) 2.245.377.002
nencdudigSu (i) 18.486.699.349
Sue) (iii) 885.563.033

21.617.639.384

2020
iy

3.335.318.379
17.603.709.593

2.494.531.433
23.433.559.405

(i) a0l JrnsulniugiazfuaojoiIdusied, Jsucdiguznouiof way Ui,

(ay JzRutw.

(i) nentduiinSudznsul nenciudhiySuanUiRNgucngnal wazqudinfiunzuiniudus Tl

Qo uJnigSun tutsuZRUANS LU,

(iii) NUldHdanwgegnzuInIuRDLtg Juugn, Juguun wae nuEugdgdu.

12. (judanaangnan
c‘j’uUﬂna’ln@nﬁﬂﬁcmz‘cﬁﬁjﬁ‘tuﬁ:

n. An1emudsiwngsuelin

LJINNZUSAIUDU
tJandzdn

eandmin
2. AN1LOUULWN29ILNUCTY
nu

02

uin

2021
b 111

11.628.423.065
16.680.280.782

35.868.313.317
64.177.017.164

2020
iy

5.755.555.428

11.604.998.674
29.445.487.664
46.806.041.766

2021
iy

17.649.442.614

31.836.911.925
14.690.662.625
64.177.017.164

2020
iy

12.426.600.996
29.449.842.427

4.929.598.343
46.806.041.766




TuarwumuiuesjnzuIniy

0 . ANIMIU RUZDINI00

Wiy 3 (Gou
4 111 6 (O9V
7 01 12 (Q9U

7IUNDT 12 (oY

3. StIMUUEIWO29J9NEN

9 . ALY WO29I01USW

ziingw

ANEN
13. (JudAInNIINNSVIAIVSY

N. A0IZMILYULWN299c3UL N

LJINNZUSIAIUDU

Wandnado

2. SaEMmUlLn29IREnUY

w0 98I0 10 Mhnfngo -

2021
b 111

34.635.445.628
13.141.477.646
6.386.313.364
10.013.780.526

64.177.017.164

2020
iy

17.360.554.102
14.012.319.009

7.737.025.460
7.696.143.195

46.806.041.766

2021
fiu

44.218.261.386
19.958.755.778
64.177.017.164

2020
iy

36.472.868.272
10.333.173.494
46.806.041.766

2021
b 111

4.659.177.113
59.517.840.051
64.177.017.164

2020
iy

600.129.159
46.205.912.607
46.806.041.766

2021
v

2021
iy

2020

fiu

659.125
30.000.000.000

30.000.659.125

2020
iy

30.000.659.125
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. NI LU0

2021 2020

fu v

Wity 3 (Gou - 659.125
7 01 12 (AU - 30.000.000.000

30.000.659.125

14. 91920 VHISUIMNTIFacd

2021 2020

fiu fiv

cjchmumun (i) (Dngsziviy 25) 415.051.022.244 380.685.132.309
Uumsajajazmmjuaao (i) (Dnoziiviu 25) 33.605.808.938 27.943.944.282

448.656.831.182 408.629.076.591

(i) Juundnido, Adugenuy IR0, §idomoeniduan 1.00% (3 3.75% 0
(4 2020: 1.00% (1}3 3.75%) 0J 0 nadnido 1210 )y 3 J.

(ii) zmmsj:lj‘tmaummjm“mmuuvn%umuﬁ:U§11J war guzneuluideytivloy newinw 91y
Ay Wasrnudugdtipneuniy. iduarnodddnguinsfutédetioniu.

15. vii§udue

2021 2020

fiu fiv

nsncdedingarey 9.129.318.398 8.938.957.145
£2089819, (JUIS Ay tIFuSu9) (i) 7.076.532.415 4.831.670.976

16.205.850.813 13.770.628.121

(i) 208383, (Juis wr BIFUSUT U0 tdnnzuiniy, Muudiuaedziun, (quluio way
A IR R ERTEN

(-‘(O U J\
16. oUsIVNIWSFVYICS

2021 2020
fiu fiy
zﬁjﬁumué’mmcéﬂ ANNINE U 8.771.320.278 9.655.727.115




TuarwumuiuesjnzuIniy

fiasaazduoidunindveacdaiidyi:

wisueligD

(vl

17. HiIaNSUFUYINUED

TSui 1 Dgnsw
(WoRuANNTUIY

tuduai 31 ¥iuoan

18. (JUFI1S9INAUASUFUNIY

w0 98I0 10 Mhnfngo -

2021
v

2.718.895.956
6.052.424.322
8.771.320.278

2021
fiu

380.900.025.000

39.700.012.500

2020
vy

909.442.174
8.746.284.941
9.655.727.115

2020
fiu

301.500.000.000

79.400.025.000

MU U029 UKIS9INILATUIUNILWIL WI DO IN tUl:

v 1 Jgnsy
(WUSUALMD13T
tududi 31 vivo

420.600.037.500 380.900.025.000
2021 2020
11 11

2.130.187.655

2.130.187.655

1.714.014.602
416.173.053
2.130.187.655
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19. A1gSuasn(is waz AreSundrvany gan

20.

AreSuaanciea
uSuneNiduMNINET

AuSunenuPNNEUINIL

A1921909nciiy
1UIVOSNTLAININE
A1U1UNSNULINNELINIW
1UUOSNDYINTIAZOCL

1UUNNDY NIV VLR ULAS

S

arsSuasnciy waz arwSutidrgadiv, g0

Cxd

A1USVAINIUFY (AT 108V JOH

A18SUAINIVIY (AT a1U18T1
AuSUnINUIUPNNIUYSUUTRNT U
g1 u3LTU oy

QNI UR UL

USUNINIUI LSV
19219 IMNM AWV ((AS 1U8 VI
a1ureoi

UMY NNNIWILTUNIU T LY

AruSuariauj (as avrgdia, av

2021
iy

28.555.588.691
25.054.320.724
53.609.909.415

2020
v

31.330.454.617
22.197.914.102
53.528.368.719

(1.564.255.544)
(257.524.890)
(16.959.747.302)
(364.808.788)
(19.146.336.524)

(1.322.078.965)
(3.978.939.084)
(15.132.178.649)

(386.913.936)
(20.820.110.634)

34.463.572.891 32.708.258.085
2021 2020
iy fiu
156.234.782 360.878.037
220.106.505 243.296.470
91.565.678 145.473.307
421.988.887 357.185.000
889.895.852 1.106.832.814

(68.701.882)
(194.122.368)
(262.824.250)
627.071.602

(58.408.199)
(182.345.073)
(240.753.272)

866.079.542




TuarwumuiuesjnzuIniy

21. (Guiow az a1(82199u929jwWiingru

(S99 QT (JUoU
(Jululin

a1lZ9108u929wing

22. 21892199103 M1V (AL 19219 aY

IYNIFUCYY €T JI1QISNKA

UL LW

UMUINUGZI0Z1
Mewan TS unuSg

mmwmcéﬂ

2009 LFE0ON
AuRUnIWeNUW

UOI9UENOURINIW

UNUAACUNI] Ry A1BUEY
1UUAIUNIVOEYIN (T NJOESINIRLUE
AMIYVONIUIY € (JugnuyuazuzGISmnau

199980118990 TUNIWIRAIWS V)

2021
b 111

10.714.324.054

801.469.080

627.373.749

12.143.166.883

NeUInI 2SS0 A0 9fntingo | RHB®

2020
v

9.754.714.077
1.882.755.913
787.658.211
12.425.128.201

2021
v

2.929.076.973
863.432.224
1.067.685.898
500.115.742
239.481.925
299.000.000
306.197.641
88.221.100
138.193.512
332.931.370
112.449.131
6.876.785.516

2020
b 111

2.165.094.026
591.243.177
368.979.859
385.266.993
332.091.992
219.071.106
287.853.000
270.649.289
100.624.867
173.107.997
418.311.061
116.362.328
5.428.655.695
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23. dinaa29uGuivindy «azs (Guaajuia

10 (CNUNEU)
Juasiiotd (08)
(JuIcs rwre (03)

aa3sugau

TUCRLANEVLO

K1V

24. 23199199 1N9UNI(I

TuarwumuiuesjnzuIniy

2021
iy

112.574.032
1.353.450.452
1.466.024.484

2020
b 111

(843.827.170)
48.631.504.092
47.787.676.092

(1.919.977.998)

(453.953.514)

(1.472.127.567)

46.315.549.355

8j]l:]°|UJ’IOUIJ’IEJRIDURI’18’mSU§1”UUUUUj (NN 67/3Wg AJDUN 18 Jgu 2019 ssninw“mma“m
ccmjam 910089INsUNL muwuumu‘ta maummcunmavmmcuuauammo e mjuvcmmmm
mchUommum‘EU UYU 2192 80011 20% (2020: 20%) QQjmutomjwmmmst:lstmeu

Nt/ (290%0) NnsusnsuwIL Wl
Wu: awawiidgaundin

din: awSuiidfnensu
Nn1ta/(2108iv) n9usIN9su29jy

210 NUENSUSNUI1INTLITULA

Nt/ (2308v) Wl

8904193133001 29adivdngsauatlud
99121 G0IUS0019IN9VHITS

2021
v

13.840.415.867
52.375.381.362
(57.316.698.863)
8.899.098.366

2020
v

(32.946.207.514)

26.901.632.043
(27.972.339.481)
(34.016.914.952)

(34.016.914.952)
8.899.098.366
(25.117.816.586)

(34.016.914.952)
(34.016.914.952)
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Jcarz0i6993991N9UNAG)AVI:
2021 2020
fiu fiu
TuSui 1 Jgnsw - 1.134.392.567
A1UIYSINSUNA - -
92IN9UNIANZ 1L UAT MDY - (1.134.392.567)

[V

auui 31 vivaa - -

W 2021, nzwinwiduntatiersusiney 33idunfiutciegand 2020. souaﬂnzﬁuazﬁu;ﬁ
s'jjczﬁscc.uwuﬁﬁmﬁamﬁ 2020 (WUWDY 25.117.816.586 FiU (2020: 34.016.914.952 fiv) (£
:1“1.uﬂ0smUsn‘cUmnmnuwum‘caesmummu‘m SSuDnERe Uumjccmﬁ 2022 — 2025 (2020:
2021-2025) ‘Zuﬁmemmucwumsj.umuujﬂumn 9jmunanaeuuua o Uammnaswuacsnumn
(az hinusSusnezuosousteney. tistinMlnedo uaindivdiddindelniiu awdezyuin
UWFHNATUSN.

25. A19N1U29JWIANFIVVINJI29)

LU WTHSY 100% (Juceelng nrwin suSxl Berhad — Uzinn Uaige (Eydudiauns)
Tunaudacdugv.

.U’%’I1JO1JaﬂEJJ"I‘]iUCﬂSJJ‘CZﬂE)ZﬂulJ°I£1"IlJUZﬂ‘lEJU'1lchOZﬂC2ﬂcf1JZU'13”I§]OIJUm3028ﬂ1mO’% MmUnned, (g3
goutmeducfueian. (3305 L LrenwIngouiingoses.

cjunmmUwuammmamucwuuunsuoou cjmeU g0 «z (Juuandnido, U]j?J]JOlJU.UlﬂﬂUuﬂU
(JunUzdn chudeigazauidsnoiniu waz J8nmnendaain 1.60% 11 2.00% & (2020
1.60% 011 2.00%), 1088IMUKzNUY. (Guundnidn J8amnenuan 2. 50% o1 6.10% 0

U (2020: 2.50% 011 6. .50%) Tnasjm.umuncom (A aunucju cjwmumm AnaudSmaudian
ﬁUU\CQU“EOQﬂJ’]’IUOUUC’leEC’] 1 (89w (1}3 36 tA9W (2020: 1(1}3 36 (AgW). (JUI (AT (JUADITLD
S00109niiy 4.00% (2020: 4%) (T toudtauzcd 72 m 300 (GoU (2020: 72 11 300 (Go).

U UIUNIUES UMD PNWINIDUNNIOE97 90836119, TWIuT, 1y ONEMUNNIOEY Az 8
SuaSudueudyntui:
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2021 2020
111 iy

N2VIOIW SUEIT — LAZE) (NS 1EV)

n. e ndmdo
S 1 Jynsy
Sudindinsusertuazmdd
210NUIIMNNIVEANI FUCTUOIANIUEN0
twduai 31 vivaa (Taszdvivrwdi 14)

nencdutio)y

AuRunsndy (Jnoziiuiui 19)

2. m‘?ﬁsﬁywmﬁayﬁjaésy
Sudi 1 Jynsy
210NUIIMNNIVEANI FUCUOINIUEN0
twdudi 31 vivaa (Taszdvivarwdi 14)

MWL swift 1oy

NI euSIT - ton

. (U INNLE18IY

v 1 Uynay

Sueindineuseriuazmasd
(N10R)/230AU3MNNIVCANI JUCUMNINIYEN0

tudua 31 vivaa (agszdiuarsdi 5)

o O

391U0UNI (AT GIFMIVNKIEL

(=]

2. (JUUINININEN
v 1 Jynsy
(JuUINNIGSy/(Neu)armd1y

210AUINNIVEINY FUTUNINI 0

380.685.132.309
(42.766.660.646)

77.132.550.581
415.051.022.244

443.150.000.000
(82.014.867.691)
19.550.000.000
380.685.132.309

8.231.935.446

16.959.747.302

27.943.944.282

5.661.864.656

6.983.937.628

15.132.178.649

26.763.256.772

1.180.687.510

33.605.808.938 27.943.944.282
194.122.368 182.345.073
2021 2020

vy iy
4.076.429.219 670.052.101

778.841.329
403.267.907
5.258.538.455

2021
iy

3.354.908.400
59.659.517

439.246.838

3.378.119.589
28.257.529
4.076.429.219

2020
iy

2.018.326.232
1.247.541.713

89.040.455




TuarwumuiuesjnzuIniy

tuduai 31 ¥ivoan

Nf9IFIneniy

218U09NY

. (UIINEL was (U090 Lhangné
duei 1.09neu

WAHD LN uarno1d
(UIANELIGSUZREaUTUAzNd13T
tudus 31 vivaa

nifeISunenidy

SUNeNUY

Sudeu way Budslinuntausdusugzeuziingu
26. WAALEINWY (AL VTV

N. WRzgNiuiy

3.853.814.755

NeUInI 2SS0 A0 9fntingo | RHB®

3.354.908.400

44.661.156

147.929.789

14.847.454.450
1.150.000.000

(5.732.067.243)

51.663.421

66.474.558

15.861.408.799
368.820.429

(1.382.774.778)

10.265.387.207 14.847.454.450
6.105.939 10.325.027
491.383.998 578.079.515

7.974.414.476

7.665.006.646

cwé’e‘lﬁc’ﬂu‘cum’nuéﬁﬂﬁoc‘j’mﬁuéuﬁﬁmou 500.000.000.000 iU 8§3011UANTWIL aui’JUE’JUUj 91808

runnRsingsduandl se/uws, ;ajomn 7 $wo1 2018, U 9uSIU Berhad ATu
msﬁocwumum.u NN tosusmmumjmucwumumajcmsmuou 198.500.000.000 1, caj‘luuu
39.700.000.000 fiu &0y 20% (2020: 79.400.000.000 v fOWY 40%) CoutEdugsEn
wdoludou wedn 2021 way Beu Ju1 2020. nna WEUSWNFoTiUNMUEURLI0NzUIUEINO
AGouniuesnuliidciInsy sxduandl 667/nNaN (A AzTUERNA 83/NawN, JSUH 29 wWrIN 2021
(LT 24 DLW 2020 NIUNU.

o

Wdui 31 fiuor 2021 MannzanuunuiGint

. v
o

Tuetisunuwid 2020. TWSVA 313U 2020, MEINIWesyIn2eINIURnRVREgec LUIGIL:

Mo 21OV NU WSy vy
31 U1 2022 39.700.000.000 20% 4th
31 U1 2023 39.700.000.000 20% 5th

79.400.000.000
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2. dJuSuge

TSui 31 ZﬂiJOﬂ 2021, U’I”Ijiﬂu1JﬂE]”IlJ.U’*ﬂ"IlJOiJgfUEJﬂC']O’%jU]U\COUUU]T]?U?UQ?EJT]UI]’IIJUTI’IIJEjU EﬂSjJJ
Uﬁjﬂ”lﬂJEjUZﬂU?UﬂUﬂ U]'%u2umUﬂUﬂﬂUUSUQUEQSCZmQﬂﬂﬂ '%’liJOlJEj‘JJEUﬂEﬂUUUZmUjUﬂﬂU"]‘Z%ECUU
JJOjEjﬂJ?lUEZS?U’ICEﬂQT]ﬂﬂ EEC’IUjU.UT]’IlJI]SU TSUR 31 Huor 2021.

2021 2020

v fiv

(Judnuug NEuta g 11.575.563.293 8.475.434.281
(ULANE LRG0 AN 3.210.000.000 11.990.000.000

14.785.563.293  20.465.434.281

. ZU’IQZ(’QJ"I&JJUUW]SﬂﬂBIJ

Azdugmneulu Ul QM CUU?]jZﬂ?SﬂJQﬂﬂUlJ way usmsunjoasajmm’moumw (R .um‘v.umtu
Ugucdgnaginoune Qs Uznm“mjcms cajumummumow mﬂucmsmmumaawzmwmcmnmjm
a“mmjzmoajjnmnmusmsnumumumauau Qe noosau‘taajjmnpuommmnjaesjnusmsn
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2021

2021 2020

Note LAK LAK
ASSETS
Cash and balances with central bank 4 511.681.628.965 471.154.975.668
Deposits and placement with other
banks 5 64.200.288.319 10.119.965.833
Loans and advances to customers 7 312.300.222.025 338.039.529.433
Right of use assets 8 7.251.167.662 8.368.365.032
Property and equipment 9 22.707.279.748 11.790.349.489
Intangible assets 10 6.333.794.951 695.961.108
Other assets 11 21.617.639.384 23.433.559.405
TOTAL ASSETS 946.092.021.054 863.602.705.968
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
LIABILITIES
Deposits from customers 12 64.177.017.164 46.806.041.766
Deposits from other banks 13 - 30.000.659.125
Amount due to parent company 14 448.656.831.182  408.629.076.591
Other liabilities 15 16.205.850.813 13.770.628.121
Lease liabilities 16 8.771.320.278 9.655.727.115
TOTAL LIABILITIES 537.811.019.437 508.862.132.718
EQUITY
Paid-up capital 17 420.600.037.500 380.900.025.000
Legal reserve 18 2.130.187.655 2.130.187.655

Deficits
TOTAL EQUITY
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

The accompanying notes on pages 79 to 106 form an integral part of these financial statements.
Independent auditor’s report - pages 140 to 142.

(14.449.223.538)
408.281.001.617

(28.289.639.405)
354.740.573.250

946.092.021.054

863.602.705.968




STATEMENT OF INCOME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

Interest income
Interest expense
NET INTEREST INCOME

Provision for credit losses on loans and
advances

NETINTERESTINCOMEAFTERLOANIMPAIR-
MENT WRITEBACK/(CHARGES)

Fee and commission income
Fee and commission expense
NET FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME

Foreign exchange gain, net

Payroll and other staff costs

General and administrative expenses
Depreciation and amortisation charges

TOTAL EXPENSES

PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX
Income tax expense

NET PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR

The company’s Financial Statement RHB BANK LAO SOLE CO., LTD | RHB®

2021 2020

Note(s) LAK LAK
53.609.909.415 53.528.368.719
(19.146.336.524)  (20.820.110.634)

19 34.463.572.891 32.708.258.085
23 453.953.514 (46.315.549.355)
34.917.526.405 (13.607.291.270)
889.895.852 1.106.832.814
(262.824.250) (240.753.272)

20 627.071.602 866.079.542
1.468.588.018 1.400.174.004

21 (12.143.166.883)  (12.425.128.201)
22 (6.876.785.516)  (5.428.655.695)
8,9,10 (4.152.817.759) (3.751.385.894)
(21.704.182.140) (20.204.995.786)
13.840.415.867 (32.946.207.514)

24 - -
13.840.415.867 (32.946.207.514)

The accompanying notes on pages 79 to 106 form an integral part of these financial statements.
Independent auditor’s report - pages 140 to 142,
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At 1 January 2020

Additional paid-up
capital

Net loss for the year
Legal reserve

As at 31 December
2020

At 1 January 2021

Additional paid-up
capital

Net profit for the year

As at 31 December
2021

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

Paid-up capital
LAK

301.500.000.000

79.400.025.000

Legal reserve
LAK

1.714.014.602

Deficits
LAK

5.072.741.162

(32.946.207.514)

Total
LAK

308.286.755.764

79.400.025.000

(32.946.207.514)

416.173.053 (416.173.053) -
380.900.025.000 2.130.187.655 (28.289.639.405) 354.740.573.250
380.900.025.000 2.130.187.655 (28.289.639.405) 354.740.573.250

39.700.012.500

420.600.037.500

2.130.187.655

13.840.415.867

(14.449.223.538)

39.700.012.500

13.840.415.867

408.281.001.617

The accompanying notes on pages 79 to 106 form an integral part of these financial statements.
Independent auditor’s report - pages 140 to 142.




STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

The company’s Financial Statement RHB BANK LAO SOLE CO., LTD | RHB®

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit/(Loss) before tax
Adjustments for:

Provision for credit losses on loans
and advances

Depreciation of property and
equipment

Amortisation of intangible assets
Depreciation of right of use assets
Foreign exchange gain, net
Interest income

Interest expense

Net cash flows used in operations
beforechangesinoperatingassetsand
liabilities

(Increase)/decrease in statutory
deposits with BOL

Increase in deposits and placement
to banks

Decrease in loans and advances to
customers

Decrease/(increase) in other assets
Increase in deposits from customers
Decrease in deposits from banks

Increase/(decrease) in deposits from
parent company

Increase in other liabilities

Interest received

Interest paid

Income tax paid

Net cash used in operating activities

Note(s)

23

10

19

19

12
13

14

24

2021
LAK

13.840.415.867

1.466.024.484

2.644.426.735
311.901.339
1.196.489.685
(1.468.588.018)
(53.609.909.415)

19.146.336.524

(16.472.902.799)

2020
LAK

(32.946.207.514)

47.787.676.922

2.368.326.607
209.059.940
1.173.999.347
(1.400.174.004)
(53.528.368.719)

20.820.110.634

(15.515.576.787)

(34.132.693.203)

(50.000.000.000)

22.859.899.286
2.619.617.462
17.370.975.398
(30.000.659.125)

34.365.889.935
2.324.153.754
52.726.919.659
(18.955.975.271)

(17.294.774.904)

61.566.306.777

33.415.722.389
(3.232.531.455)
7.660.808.776

(86.000.080.000)

(62.464.867.691)
1.246.676.975
50.720.416.687
(23.487.407.515)
(1.134.392.567)
(37.224.924.411)
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INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchases of property and equipment 9 (13.561.356.994) (1.224.321.961)
Purchases of intangible fixed assets 10 (5.949.735.182) (250.107.000)
Net cash used in investing activities (19.511.092.176) (1.474.428.961)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Payment of lease liabilities (963.699.152) (869.224.344)
Capital injection 39.700.012.500 79.400.025.000

Net cash generated from financing
activities 38.736.313.348 78.530.800.656

Net increase in cash and cash

equivalents 1.930.446.268 39.831.447.284
Cash and cash equivalents,

beginning 6 95.631.593.587 52.667.181.827
Effect of foreign exchange difference 8.543.836.312 3.132.964.476
Cash and cash equivalents, ending 6 106.105.876.167 95.631.593.587

The accompanying notes on pages 79 to 106 form an integral part of these financial statements.
Independent auditor’s report - pages 140 to 142,
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1. GENERAL INFORMATION

RHB Bank Lao Sole Co,, Ltd (the Bank) is a commercial bank incorporated and registered in
Lao People’'s Democratic Republic (Lao P.D.R.).

The Bank is a limited company by 100% foreign investment under the laws of Lao P.D.R. The
Bank operates its banking business under the Law on Commercial Bank No. 56/NA, dated 7
December 2018 and under the regulations of Bank of Lao P.D.R (BOL). The Bank had received
its revised Banking License No.04/BOL dated 24 March 2021 (Replace Banking License No.
10/BOL dated 30 April 2014) and Enterprise Registration Certificate No.0628/ERA dated 19
April 2021, Replace Enterprise Registration Certificate No.213/ERA dated 30 May 2014.

The principal activities of the Bank are to provide comprehensive banking and related financial
services in Lao P.D.R.

The Bank is 100% fully owned by RHB Bank Berhad. In November 2021, RHB Bank Berhad
additionally paid up a capital of LAK 39.700.012.500, therefore the registered capital of the
Bank increased from LAK 380.900.025.000 to LAK 420.600.037.500 with 41.850.750 (2020:
37.900.500) shares at issue price of LAK 10.050 per share.

The registered office of the Bank is at Unit No.1, House No. 008, Kaysone Phomvihane Road,
Phonxay Village, Lao P.D.R.

The Bank's BOD has reviewed these financial statements and approved for their issuance on
23 February 2022.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of the financial statements are
set out below:

2.1 Basis of preparation

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with the relevant accounting
regulations and notifications of BOL and accounting policies of the Bank. The accounting
principles applied may differ from generally accepted accounting principles adopted in
other countries and jurisdictions. The accompanying financial statements are not intended
to present the financial position and financial performance in accordance with other
jurisdictions. Consequently, these financial statements are addressed only to those who
are informed about the Bank's accounting policies and the relevant accounting regulations
and notifications of BOL.

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and
assumptions affecting the amounts reported as assets and liabilities, the disclosure of any
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the amounts
of revenues and expenses in the reported periods. Although these estimates are based
on management’s best knowledge of current events and actions, actual results may differ
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from those estimates.

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention.
2.2 Measurement and presentation currency

The Bank maintains its records in Lao Kip (LAK) and presents financial statements in LAK.
2.3 Foreign currency transactions and translation

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than LAK at year end are
translated into LAK at exchange rates ruling on the statement of the financial report date.
Income and expenses arising in foreign currencies during the period are converted into
LAK at rates ruling on the transaction dates. Gains and losses resulting from the settlement
of such transactions and from the translation of such monetary assets and liabilities are
recognised in the statement of income when earned and incurred.

2.4 Financial instruments

The Bank's significant financial assets and liabilities include cash and balances with
central bank, deposits and placement with other banks, loans and advances, deposits
from customers, deposits from other banks, amount due to parent company, other assets,
other liabilities and lease liabilities. The accounting policies for the recognition and
measurement of these items are disclosed in the respective accounting policies.

2.5 Recognition of interest income and expense
Interest income recognition

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis and is recognised at the nominal interest
rates stipulated in the loan contracts with clients except in relation to non-performing
accounts.

As per BOL guideline no. 334/AD, dated 11 March 2019, where an account becomes non-
performing, the recording of interest is suspended and interest income already recognised
will be reversed. Interestincome will be recognised if accrued interest on non-performing
loans will be subsequently collected. Customer accounts are deemed to be non-performing
where repayments are in arrears for more than three months or 89 days.

Interest expense

Interest expense on deposits from customers and banks are recognised on an accrual
basis and at the approved interest rates.
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2.6 Recognition of fee and commission income

Fee and commission income from the various activities of the Bank is accrued using the
following bases:

e Loan arrangement fees and commissions on services and facilities extended to
customers are recognised on the occurrence of such transactions.

¢ Commitment fees and guarantees on services and facilities extended to customers
are recognised as income over the period in which the services and facilities are
extended.

e Service charges and processing fees are recognised when the service is provided.
2.7 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and bank balances and short-term deposits
maturing within thirty (30) days.

2.8 Loans and advances to customers

Loans and advances are originated by the Bank providing money to a customer for
purposes other than short-term profit taking. They are stated at the outstanding principal
balances less an impairment allowance for doubtful loans and advances, to reflect the
estimated recoverable amount. Loans and advances except bank overdrafts are shown
exclusive of accrued interest receivable.

2.9 Provision for credit losses

In accordance with the regulation 512/BOL dated 29 June 2018, the Bank is required to
classify loans and create a provision for impairment losses. Accordingly, loans are classified
into performing loans or non-performing loans based on their payment arrears status
and other qualitative factors. Loans classified as normal or pass (group A) and watch
list or special mention (group B) are considered as performing loans. Loans classified
as substandard (group C), doubtful (group D) and loss (group E) are considered as non-
performing loans. The method of provision calculation mentions that banks can take into
consideration the collateral value with a certain prescribed percentage indicated in the
regulation to be deducted from the loan outstanding before applying the provision rates.
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2.10 Provision for credit losses

Provisions are categorised as general and specific based on the loan classification. Below
is the summary of provision rates applicable for each loan classification as at the balance
sheet date:

Number of days past
Group Category due Provision rate

Performing (general)
A Normal or pass Within 29 days 0.5%

Watch list or special
B mention 30 to 89 days 3%

Non-Performing (Specific)

C Substandard 90 to 179 days 20%
D Doubtful 180 to 359 days 50%
E Loss From 360 days 100%

2.11 Intangible assets

Acquired computer software licences are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred
to acquire and bring to use the specific software. Computer software licences are
subsequently carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. These
costs are amortised over the estimated useful life of 5 years.

2.12 Property and equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset'’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate
asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated
with the item will flow to the group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The
carrying amount of any component accounted for as a separate asset is derecognised
when replaced. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to statement of income
during the reporting period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation of property and equipment is provided for on a straight-line basis to write
down the cost of each asset to its residual value over the estimated useful life, at the
following annual rates:
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Category Depreciation rate

Motor vehicles 20%

Office equipment 20%

Furniture and fixtures 20%

Buildings and improvements 5% - over the period of the lease
Computer equipment 20% - 25%

Leasehold improvements are generally depreciated over the shorter of the asset’s useful
life and the lease term on a straight-line basis.

The asset’s residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate,
at the end of each reporting period. There are no material adjustments arising from the
review that would require disclosure in the financial statements.

Gains or losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount
and are included in statement of income. At the end of the reporting period, the Bank
assesses whether there is any indication of impairment. Where an indication of impairment
exists, the carrying amount of the asset is written down to its recoverable amount.

2.13 Statutory deposits

Under the requirement of the Law on Commercial Bank No. 56/NA, dated 07 December
2018, commercial banks are required to appropriate net profit to regulatory reserve fund,
business expansion fund, and other funds.

In accordance with (Revised) Enterprise law No. 46/NA, dated 26 December 2013 Capital
Adequacy, the regulatory reserve fund shall be provided annually at 10% from profit after
tax. When this regulatory reserve fund accumulates half of registered capital, the company
may suspend the deduction, unless otherwise provided by Law of Limited Company.

2.14 Leases for lessee

Leases are recognised as a right of use asset and a corresponding liability at the date
which the leased asset is available for use by the Bank. Assets and liabilities arising from
a lease are initially measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include the net
present value of the fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments).

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain extension options are also included
in the measurement of liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If the rate
cannot be really determined, which is generally the case for leases in the Bank, the lessee’s
incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the individual lessee would have
to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to the right-of-
use asset in a similar economic environment with similar terms, security, and conditions.
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Right of use assets are measured at cost comprising the amount of the initial measurement
of lease liability. Right of use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of the
asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis.

Payments associated with short-term leases and all leases of low-value assets are
recognised on a straight-line basis as an expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases are
leases with a lease term of 12 months or less.

2.15 Employee benefit
a) Short term employee benefits

Wages, salaries paid, annual leave and sick leave and other leave, bonuses and non-
monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which the associated services are rendered
by employees of the Bank.

b) Post-employment benefits

Post-employment benefits are paid to retired employees of the Bank by the National Social
Security Fund Office which belongs to the Ministry of Labour and Social Welfare. The Bank
is required to contribute to these post-employment benefits by paying social insurance
premium to the Social Insurance Agency at the rate of 6% of employee’s basic salary on
a monthly basis or of celling LAK4,500,000 in case employee’s basic salary higher than
celling rate. The Bank has no further significant obligation concerning post-employment
benefits for the employees other than this.

c) Termination benefits

In accordance with Article 90 of the Amended Labour Law No. 43/NA, dated 24 December
2013, the Bank has the obligation to pay allowance for employees who are terminated by
dismissal in the following cases:

e Compensation for the cancellation of employment contracts shall be %10 of the last
salary or wage multiplied by the total number of months worked;

e For unjustified termination of employment contracts in accordance with the Article
88 of the Amended Labour law, compensation will be %15 of the last salary or wage
multiplied by the total number of months worked; and

e Cancellation of employment contracts for reasons not specified in the Amended
Labour Law, the Bank must implement compensation in accordance with the
agreement between the Bank and the employee.
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2.16 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Bank has a present legal or constructive obligation
as a result of past events, when it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required
to settle the obligation, and when a reliable estimate of the amount can be made.

2.17 Tax

Provision is made for taxation on the current year's profits, based on the Tax Law governing
taxation within Lao P.D.R. In accordance with the Law on Income Tax No.067/NA, dated 18
June 2019, the Bank is subject to 20% (2020: 20%) on total taxable profit, and profit taxes
shall be paid every 20th of July of the year and every 20th January of the following year.

Tax losses incurred in any tax year can be carried forward to offset against profit realised
in the following five tax years from the year loss was incurred subject to certification by the
National Audit Authority or an independent audit company and with the acknowledgement
of the tax authorities. Upon expiration of such period, any remaining loss not so deducted
may no longer be deducted from profits.

2.18 Related parties

Enterprises or individuals that directly or indirectly through one or more intermediaries,
control, or are under controlled by or are under common control with the Bank including
holding companies, subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries are related parties of the Bank.
Associates and individuals owning, directly or indirectly, an interest in the voting power of
the Bank that gives them significant influence over the Bank key management personnel
including directors and officers of the Bank and close members of the family of these
individuals and companies associated with these individuals also constitute related parties.

In considering each possible related party relationship, attention is directed to the
substance of the relationship, and not merely the legal form.

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES

The guidelines and policies adopted by the Bank to manage the risks that arise in the conduct
of its business activities are as follows:

3.1 Credit risk

Credit risk is the potential loss of revenue and principal in the form of specific provisions
as a result of defaults by the borrowers or counterparties through its lending and investing
activities. The primary exposure to credit risk arises through its loans and advances.
The amount of credit exposure in this regard is represented by the carrying amounts of
the assets on the balance sheet. The lending activities are guided by the Bank’s credit
policy to ensure that the overall objectives in the area of lending are achieved i.e. that
the loans portfolio is strong and healthy and credit risks are well diversified. The credit
policy documents are the credit control and recovery manual, credit operations manual,
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and credit policy manual. Credit risk is the single largest risk for the Bank's business.
Management therefore carefully manages its exposure to credit risk.

3.2 Market risk

Market risk is the risk of loss arising from adverse movement in the level of market prices or
rates, the two key components being foreign currency exchange risk and interest rate risk.

(i)  Foreign currency exchange risk

Foreign currency exchange risk refers to the risk of adverse exchange rate movements on
foreign currency exchange positions taken from time to time. The Bank maintains a policy
of not exposing itself to large foreign exchange positions. Any foreign currency exchange
open positions are monitored against the operating requirements, predetermined position
limits and stop-loss limits.

(iv)  Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk refers to the volatility in net interest income as a result of changes in the
levels of interest rate and shifts in the composition of the assets and liabilities. Interest
rate risk is managed through close monitoring of returns on investment, market pricing
and cost of funds. The potential reduction in net interest income from an unfavourable
interest rate movement is monitored against the risk tolerance limits set.

3.3 Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk relates to the ability to maintain sufficient liquid assets to meet its financial
commitments and obligations when they fall due at a reasonable cost. The management
of the Bank closely monitors all inflows and outflows and maturity gaps. Movements
in loans and customers' deposits are monitored and liquidity requirements adjusted to
ensure sufficient liquid assets to meet its financial commitments and obligations as and
when they fall due.

4. CASH AND BALANCES WITH CENTRAL BANK

2021 2020
LAK LAK
Cash on hand (Note 4.1) 16.120.753.168  16.912.658.373

Balances with central bank other than long term
fixed deposit and mandatory reserve deposits
(Note 4.2) 75.784.834.680 68.598.969.381

Included in cash and cash equivalents (Note 6) 91.905.587.848 85.511.627.754

Long term fixed deposit and mandatory reserve
deposits with central bank (Note 4.3) 419.776.041.117 385.643.347.914

511.681.628.965 471.154.975.668
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4.1 Cash on hand

2021 2020

LAK LAK

Cash on hand — LAK 6.493.751.500 7.515.212.500
Cash on hand — foreign currencies 9.627.001.668  9.397.445.873

16.120.753.168 16.912.658.373

4.2 Balances with central bank other than long term fixed deposit and
mandatory reserve deposits

2021 2020
LAK LAK
Demand deposit 75.784.834.680 68.598.969.381
4.3 Long term fixed deposit and mandatory reserve deposits with central
bank
2021 2020
LAK LAK
Compulsory reserve (i) 4.636.658.006 5.795.254.738
Special deposit (ii) 88.360.867 88.360.867
Long term fixed deposit (iii) 415.051.022.244 379.759.732.309

i)

419.776.041.117 385.643.347.914

These are deposits maintained in BOL as per BOL regulations. The balance is
adjusted and calculated at %4 :2020) %3) of LAK and %8 :2020) %5) of other
foreign currencies, such as Thailand Baht (THB) and United States Dollar (USD),
on the average balance of bank and customer deposits, such as savings accounts.
current accounts and term deposits as of the year. These deposits do not earn
interest.

ii). The Bank maintains an additional statutory capital deposit with BOL. This deposit

amount is considered as a guarantee for the operations. Per regulation No.0o#/BOL
dated 28 January 2010, commercial banks and foreign branch which have permanent
office, no longer needs to appropriate a reserve of %25 of the registered capital and
the investment capital. This deposit does not earn interest.

Long term fixed deposits maintained with BOL earn interest at %5.50 :2020) %5.50)
per annum with a term of 3 years.
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5. DEPOSITS AND PLACEMENT WITH OTHER BANKS

Deposits and placement with other banks are analysed as follows:

Deposits included in cash and cash equiva-
lents

Placement with other banks

a) Analysis by institution

88

Balances with domestic banks

Banque Pour Le Commerce Exterieur
Lao — Vientiane Branch

Balances with overseas banks
RHB Bank Berhad — Thailand (Note 25)
JP Morgan - Vietham

Included in cash and cash equivalents
(Note 6)

Placement with domestic banks
KasikornThai Bank Limited
VietinBank Lao Limited

2021
LAK

14.200.288.319

50.000.000.000

2020
LAK

10.119.965.833

64.200.288.319 10.119.965.833
2021 2020
LAK LAK

8.316.128.455
8.316.128.455

5.258.538.455
625.621.409
5.884.159.864

2.846.144.413
2.846.144.413

4.076.429.219
3.197.392.201
7.273.821.420

14.200.288.319 10.119.965.833
2021 2020
LAK LAK

45.000.000.000

5.000.000.000
50.000.000.000
64.200.288.319

10.119.965.833
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b) Analysis by currency

Domestic banks
LAK
USD
THB

Overseas banks
UusD
THB (Note 25)

6. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and balances with central bank (Note 4)
Deposits with other banks (Note 5)

7. LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS

Loans and advances to customers

Provision for credit losses

2021
LAK

56.617.537.122
658.803.413
1.039.787.920
58.316.128.455

625.621.409
5.258.538.455
5.884.159.864

2020
LAK

2.183.049.941
290.541.360
372.553.112
2.846.144.413

3.197.392.201
4.076.429.219
7.273.821.420

64.200.288.319 10.119.965.833
2021 2020
LAK LAK

91.905.587.848
14.200.288.319
106.105.876.167

85.511.627.754
10.119.965.833
95.631.593.587

2021
LAK

316.268.160.223

(3.967.938.198)

312.300.222.025

2020
LAK

365.610.463.360

(27.570.933.927)

338.039.529.433
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Loans and advances to customers are analysed as follows:

a) Analysis by currency

LAK
USD
THB

b) Analysis by status of loan

Performing loans

Non-performing loans

c) Analysis by classification of BOL

Performing loans

Normal or pass

Watch list or special mention
Non-performing loans
Substandard

Doubtful

Loss

d) Analysis by relationship

Customers

2021
LAK

281.366.845.745
33.174.132.390

1.727.182.088

2020
LAK

312.376.049.143
44.729.480.975

8.504.933.242

316.268.160.223 365.610.463.360
2021 2020
LAK LAK

308.365.904.893

7.902.255.330

337.298.458.169

28.312.005.191

316.268.160.223 365.610.463.360
2021 2020
LAK LAK

295.140.125.189

13.225.779.704

6.065.182.669

1.837.072.661

316.268.160.223

336.011.287.278

1.287.170.891

3.844.821.351
24.467.183.840
365.610.463.360

2021
LAK

316.268.160.223

2020
LAK

365.610.463.360




2021

LAK
Industrial 25.259.364.323
Construction 14.837.099.664
Commercial 83.266.494.705

Transport and telecommunication 13.771.347.224

Service 128.419.615.171
Agriculture 3.750.000.000
Handicraft 1.367.907.206
Others 45.596.331.930

316.268.160.223
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e) Analysis by economic sector

2020
LAK

24.888.511.770
26.534.322.369
101.366.456.741
14.167.998.599
142.104.630.462
1.671.811.858
54.876.731.561
365.610.463.360

f) Analysis by resident status

2021
LAK

Resident 314.216.680.790

Non-resident 2.051.479.433

2020
LAK

360.944.109.865

4.666.353.495

316.268.160.223 365.610.463.360
g) Analysis by security
2021 2020
LAK LAK
Secured 316.268.160.223 365.610.463.360

The movement in the allowance for performing loans is as follows:

2021
LAK

2020

LAK
General provision
Beginning balance

1.718.776.122 2.507.419.119

Provision charged during the year 44.504.715.533 41.427.253.345

Reversal of provision during the year (44.392.141.501) (42.271.080.515)
Foreign exchange difference

At 31 December

41.228.299
1.872.578.453

55.184.173
1.718.776.122




2021

LAK
Specific provision
Beginning balance 25.852.157.805
Provision charged during the year 39.390.551.200
Reversal of provision during the year (38.037.100.748)
Utilisation for bad debt written off (26.482.403.851)
Foreign exchange difference

At 31 December

1.372.155.339
2.095.359.745
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2020
LAK

6.166.933.764
94.150.851.286
(45.519.347.194)
(27.971.071.273)
(975.208.778)
25.852.157.805

The breakdown of as at 31 December 2021 is as follows:

2021

LAK
Performing loans (general)
Normal or pass 1.475.698.528
Watch list or special mention 396.879.925

Non-performing loans (specific)

Substandard 1.188.478.314
Doubtful 906.881.431
Loss .

At 31 December 3.967.938.198

2020
LAK

1.680.054.358

38.721.764

2.196.884.225
23.655.273.580
27.570.933.927
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8. RIGHT OF USE ASSETS

Cost

At 1 January
Adjustments

At 31 December

Accumulated amortisation

At 1 January

Charge for the year

At 31 December

Net book value at 31 December

RHB BANK LAO SOLE CO., LTD | RHE®

2021
LAK

14.827.940.522
79.292.315
14.907.232.837

2020
LAK

14.768.349.908
59.590.614
14.827.940.522

(6.459.575.490)
(1.196.489.685)
(7.656.065.175)

(5.285.576.143)
(1.173.999.347)
(6.459.575.490)

7.251.167.662

8.368.365.032

The right of use assets recognised pertains to the lease of head office in Phonxay and branch

offices in Sithan Neau and Dongdok.
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10. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Movement of the balance of intangible assets for the year ended 31 December 2021 is as
follows:

Computersoftware In progress* Total
LAK LAK LAK

Cost
At 1 January 2021 8.032.065.119 - 8.032.065.119
Additions 1.021.182.608  4.928.552.574 5.949.735.182
At 31 December 2021 9.053.247.727  4.928.552.574 13.981.800.301
Accumulated amortisation
At 1 January 2021 (7.336.104.011) - (7.336.104.01M)
Charge for the year (311.901.339) - (311.901.339)
At 31 December 2021 (7.648.005.350) - (7.648.005.350)
Net book value at 31 December
2021 1.405.242.377  4.928.552.574  6.333.794.951

* Intangible assets in progress during 2021 are related to Information Technology projects to
enhance the system.

Movement of the balance of intangible assets for the year ended 31 December 2020 is as
follows:

Computersoftware In progress Total
LAK LAK LAK

Cost
At 1 January 2020 7.781.958.119 - 7.781.958.119
Additions 250.107.000 - 250.107.000
At 31 December 2020 8.032.065.119 - 8.032.065.119

Accumulated amortisation

At 1 January 2020 (7.127.044.071) - (7.127.044.071)
Charge for the year (209.059.940) - (209.059.940)
At 31 December 2020 (7.336.104.011) - (7.336.104.011)
Net book value at 31 December

2020 695.961.108 - 695.961.108
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11. OTHER ASSETS

2021 2020
LAK LAK

Prepaid expenses (i) 2.245.377.002 3.335.318.379

Accrued interest and penalty receivable (ii) 18.486.699.349  17.603.709.593

Others (iii) 885.563.033

21.617.639.384

2.494.531.433
23.433.559.405

(i) Prepaid expenses include advance payments for lease line, hardware and software
maintenance, and insurance.

(ii) Accrued interest receivable includes interest receivable from loans to customers and
deposits with other banks. This also includes penalty receivable for the overdue loans.

(iii) These include bank supplies such as cheque books. passbooks and signature verification

slips.

12. DEPOSITS FROM CUSTOMERS

Deposits from customers are analysed as follows:

a) Analysis by types of deposit account

Current deposits
Saving deposits
Term deposits

a) Analysis by currency

LAK
uSD
THB

2021
LAK

11.628.423.065
16.680.280.782

35.868.313.317
64.177.017.164

2020
LAK

5.755.555.428

11.604.998.674
29.445.487.664
46.806.041.766

2021
LAK

17.649.442.614
31.836.911.925
14.690.662.625
64.177.017.164

2020
LAK

12.426.600.996
29.449.842.427

4.929.598.343
46.806.041.766
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a) Analysis by maturity

Within 3 months
4 to 6 months
7 to 12 months

Over 12 months

b) Analysis by type of customer

Individual
Non-individual

c) Analysis by type of relationship

Staff
Customers

13. DEPOSITS FROM OTHER BANKS

a) Analysis by types of deposit account

Current deposits
Term deposits

b) Analysis by currency

LAK

2021
LAK

34.635.445.628
13.141.477.646
6.386.313.364
10.013.780.526
64.177.017.164

2020
LAK

17.360.554.102
14.012.319.009
7.737.025.460
7.696.143.195
46.806.041.766

2021
LAK

44.218.261.386
19.958.755.778
64.177.017.164

2020
LAK

36.472.868.272
10.333.173.494
46.806.041.766

2021
LAK

4.659.177.113
59.517.840.051
64.177.017.164

2020
LAK

600.129.159
46.205.912.607
46.806.041.766

2021
LAK

2021
LAK

2020
LAK

659.125
30.000.000.000
30.000.659.125

2020
LAK

30.000.659.125
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c) Analysis by maturity

2021 2020

LAK LAK

Within 3 months - 659.125
7 to 12 months - 30.000.000.000

- 30.000.659.125

14. AMOUNT DUE TO PARENT COMPANY

2021 2020

LAK LAK

Fixed deposits (i) (Note 25) 415.051.022.244 380.685.132.309
Intercompany payable (ii) (Note 25) 33.605.808.938 27.943.944.282

448.656.831.182 408.629.076.591

i). Fixed deposits denominated in USD carry interest rates from 1.00% to 3.75% (2020:
1.00% to 3.75%) per annum with terms ranging from 1 week to 3 years.

i). Intercompany payables include purchases of property and equipment initially made by
RHB Bank Berhad - Malaysia during the start-up phase of the Bank. The intercompany
payable is repayable on demand.

15. OTHER LIABILITIES

2021 2020

LAK LAK

Accrued interest payable 9.129.318.398 8.938.957.145
Accruals, provisions and other liabilities (i) 7.076.532.415 4.831.670.976

16.205.850.813 13.770.628.121

(i) Accruals, provisions, and other liabilities include banker’s cheques, accruals for utilities,
bonus, and other liabilities to suppliers.

16. LEASE LIABILITIES

2021 2020
LAK LAK

Lease liabilities from property 8.771.320.278 9.655.727.115
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(a) Scheduled repayments of lease liabilities are as follows:

2021 2020

LAK LAK

Within one year 2.718.895.956 909.442.174
Beyond one year 6.052.424.322 8.746.284.941

8.771.320.278 9.655.727.115

17. PAID-UP CAPITAL

2021 2020

LAK LAK

At 1 January 380.900.025.000 301.500.000.000
Additional paid-up capital 39.700.012.500 79.400.025.000
At 31 December 420.600.037.500 380.900.025.000

18. LEGAL RESERVE

The movement in legal reserve fund during the year is presented below:

2021 2020

LAK LAK

At 1 January 2.130.187.655 1.714.014.602
Additional during the year - 416.173.053

At 31 December 2.130.187.655 2.130.187.655




The company’s Financial Statement RHB BANK LAO SOLE CO., LTD | RHB®

19. NET INTEREST INCOME

2021 2020
LAK LAK

Interest income
Interest income from customers 28.555.588.691 31.330.454.617
25.054.320.724 22.197.914.102

53.609.909.415 53.528.368.719

Interest income from banks

Interest expense

Interest expense from customers (1.564.255.544)  (1.322.078.965

Interest expense from banks (257.524.890) (3.978.939.084

) )

) )

Interest expense from parent company (16.959.747.302) (15.132.178.649)
(364.808.788) (386.913.936)
(19.146.336.524) (20.820.110.634)

34.463.572.891 32.708.258.085

Interest expense from lease liability

Net interest income

20. NET FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME

2021 2020
LAK LAK

Fee and commission income
Loan processing fees 156.234.782 360.878.037
Penalty fees 220.106.505 243.296.470
Commitment fees 91.565.678 145.473.307
Other fees 421.988.887 357.185.000

889.895.852 1.106.832.814

Fee and commission expense

Commission expenses

Wire transfer fees

Net fee and commission income

(68.701.882)
(194.122.368)
(262.824.250)

(58.408.199)
(182.345.073)
(240.753.272)

627.071.602

866.079.542
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21. PAYROLL AND OTHER STAFF COSTS

Salaries and wages
Bonus

Other staff costs

Repair and maintenance
Insurance

Professional fees
Communication expense
Rental

Utilities

Security fee

Office stationery expense
Meal and travelling

Marketing and public relations
Board of directors’ fees and allowances
Other administrative expenses

2021
LAK

10.714.324.054
801.469.080
627.373.749
12.143.166.883

2020
LAK

9.754.714.077
1.882.755.913
787.658.211
12.425.128.201

22. GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

2021
LAK

2.929.076.973
863.432.224
1.067.685.898
500.115.742
239.481.925
299.000.000
306.197.641
88.221.100
138.193.512
332.931.370
112.449.131
6.876.785.516

2020
LAK

2.165.094.026
591.243.177
368.979.859
385.266.993
332.091.992
219.071.106
287.853.000
270.649.289
100.624.867
173.107.997
418.311.061
116.362.328
5.428.655.695
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23. PROVISION FOR CREDIT LOSSES ON LOANS AND ADVANCES

2021 2020
LAK LAK

Charge/(Write-back)
General provision (net) 112.574.032 (843.827.170)

1.353.450.452
1.466.024.484

48.631.504.092
47.787.676.922

Specific provision (net)
Net charge

Bad debt recovered (1.919.977.998)

(453.953.514)

(1.472.127.567)
46.315.549.355

24. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

In accordance with the Income Tax Law No. 67/NA, dated 18 June 2019 stipulated by the
President of the National Assembly, applicable profit tax that should be applied to both lao and
foreign enterprises established in Lao PDR is 20% (2020: 20%) of total taxable profit income.

Profit/(Loss) before tax for the year
Add: Non-deductible expenses
Less: Non-taxable income

Taxable profit/(loss) for the year

Loss carried forward from previous year
Profit/(Loss) for the year

Outstanding netloss carried forward forthe
year

Income tax expense at applicable tax rate

2021
LAK

13.840.415.867
52.375.381.362
(57.316.698.863)
8.899.098.366

2020
LAK

(32.946.207.514)

26.901.632.043
(27.972.339.481)
(34.016.914.952)

(34.016.914.952)
8.899.098.366

(25.117.816.586)

(34.016.914.952)

(34.016.914.952)
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Analysis of the income tax payable is as follows:

2021 2020

LAK LAK

At 1 January - 1.134.392.567
Income tax expense - -
Tax paid during the year - (1.134.392.567)

At 31 December - -

In 2021, the Bank had taxable profit where loss carry forward from 2020 has been applied.
The remaining loss carry forward from 2020 amounts to LAK 25.117.816.586 (2020: LAK
34.016.914.952) which can be carried forward to offset against taxable profit to be realised for
the remaining years from 2022 to 2025 (2020: 2021 to 2015), from the year loss was incurred
subject to certification by the National Audit Authority or an independent audit company
and with the acknowledgement from the tax authorities. Upon expiration of such period, any
remaining loss not so deducted may no longer be deducted from profits.

25. RELATED PARTY BALANCES AND TRANSACTIONS

The Bank is 100% owned by RHB Bank Berhad - Malaysia. which is the Bank’s ultimate
controlling party.

A few numbers of banking transactions were entered into with related parties in the normal
course of business. which were mostly deposits.

Deposits from key management personnel comprised of savings and fixed deposits, all of
which are unsecured. Savings deposits are repayable on demand and carry interest rates
ranging from 1.60% to 2.00% (2020: 1.60% to 2.00%) per annum, depending on the currency.
Fixed deposits carry interest rates ranging from 2.50% to 6.10% (2020: 2.50% to 6.50%) per
annum, depending on the term and currency. Fixed deposits from key management personnel
have terms ranging from 1to 36 months (2020: 1to 36 months). Loans and advances carry
interest rates of 4.00% (2020: 4.00%) per annum with terms ranging from 72 to 300 months
(2020: 72 to 300 months).

The volume of related-party transactions, outstanding balances, at the year-end, and relating
expense and income for the year are as follows:
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2020
LAK

443.150.000.000
(82.014.867.691)
19.550.000.000
380.685.132.309

6.983.937.628

15.132.178.649

26.763.256.772
1.180.687.510
27.943.944.282

2021
LAK
RHB Bank Berhad - Malaysia (Holding Bank)
(a) Fixed deposits
At 1 January 380.685.132.309
Deposits withdrawn during the year (42.766.660.646)
Foreign exchange loss 77.132.550.581
As at 31 December (Note 14) 415.051.022.244
Interest payable 8.231.935.446
Interest expense (Note 19) 16.959.747.302
(b) Intercompany payable
At 1 January 27.943.944.282
Foreign exchange loss 5.661.864.656
As at 31 December (Note 14) 33.605.808.938
Monthly swift payment 194.122.368
RHB Bank Thailand
(a) Current deposit
At 1 January 4.076.429.219
Deposits placed during the year 778.841.329
Foreign exchange gain 403.267.907

At 31 December (Note 5) 5.258.538.455

182.345.073

670.052.101
3.378.119.589
28.257.529
4.076.429.219




Director and key management personnel

(a) Deposits from customers

At 1 January

Deposits received during the year
Foreign exchange loss

As at 31 December

Interest payable

Interest expense

(b) Loans and advances to customers

At 1 January
Loans disbursed during the year
Loan repayments during the year

2021
LAK

3.354.908.400
59.659.517
439.246.838
3.853.814.755

44.661.156

147.929.789

14.847.454.450
1.150.000.000

(5.732.067.243)
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2020
LAK

2.018.326.232
1.247.541.713
89.040.455
3.354.908.400

51.663.421

66.474.558

15.861.408.799
368.820.429

(1.382.774.778)

As at 31 December 10.265.387.207 14.847.454.450
Interest receivable 6.105.939 10.325.027
Interest income 491.383.998 578.079.515
Salaries and other short-term employee

benefits 7.974.414.476 7.665.006.646

26. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
(a) Capital commitment

In order to meet the minimum capital requirement of LAK 500.000.000.000, as per revised
Law on Commercial Bank No.56/NA, dated 7 December 2018, RHB Bank Berhad needs to
inject additional capital. BOL has already acknowledged the capital injection schedule of
the remaining LAK 198.500.000.000 of which LAK 39.700.000.000 representing 20% (2020:
LAK 79.400.000.000 representing 40%) has been injected in November 2021 and March
2020 respectively. The acknowledgement is supported by the memo BOL No. 667/CBSD
and No. 83/CBSD, dated 29 November 2021 and 24 February 2020 respectively. As at 31
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December 2021, the approved schedule of the remaining capital injection is as follows:

Schedule Amount in LAK Percentage Period

31 December 2022 39.700.000.000 20% 4th

31 December 2023 39.700.000.000 20% sth
79.400.000.000

(b) Credit facilities

As at 31 December 2021. the Bank had the contractual amounts of the Bank’s off-financial
position, financial instruments that commits it to extend credit to customers. Unutilised
overdrafts are those credit limit provided to customers but have not yet been withdrawn
as at 31 December 2021.

2021 2020

LAK LAK

Unutilised overdraft 11.575.563.293 8.475.434.281
Undisbursed loans 3.210.000.000 11.990.000.000

14.785.563.293 20.465.434.281

(c) Taxation contingencies

The taxation system in the Lao PDR is relatively new and is characterised by numerous
taxes and frequently changing legislation, which is often unclear, Contradictory, and
subject to interpretation. Often, differing interpretations exist among numerous taxation
authorities and jurisdictions. Taxes are subject to review and investigation by a number of
authorities, who are enabled by law to impose severe fines, penalties and interest charges.
These facts may create tax risks in Lao PDR substantially more significant than in other
countries. Management believes that it has adequately provided for tax liabilities based
on its interpretation of tax legislation. However, the relevant authorities may have differing
interpretations and the effects could be significant.
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General Information

Issuer

Type of Business

Headquarters

Registration Number :

Homepage

Telephone

Facsimile

Registered Capital

Branches

Telephone

Facsimile

Branches

Telephone

RHB Bank Lao Sole Co., Ltd
The Company conducts banking business and is member No. 36
of The Bank of Lao PDR.

Deposit

Lending

Foreign currency transaction

Service between customers and other banking service
Unit No. 01, House No. 008, Kaysone Phomvihane Road,
Phonxay Village, Vientiane Capital, Lao PDR.
01-00019470
https://www.rhbgroup.com/laos
+856(21) 455 116
+856(21) 455 112

LAK 420.600.037.500

. Sithan Neua Branch

Unit No. 06, Souphanouvong Road, Sithan Neua Village,
Sikhottabong District, Vientiane Capital, Lao PDR
+856(21) 221010

+856(21) 221 013

Dongdok Branch
Unit No. 08, Dongdok Road, Saphangmeuk Village, Xaythany District,
Vientiane Capital, Lao PDR

+856(21) 773 050
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References

Auditor

PricewaterhouseCoopers (Lao) Sole Company Limited.

4th Floor, Allianz Building, 33 Lane Xang Avenue, P.O. Box 7003
Vientiane Capital, Lao PDR

Telephone: +856 (21) 222 718-9

Facsimile: +856 (21) 222 723

www.pwc.com/la
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RHB Banking Group

The RHB Banking Group has a proud history, having won many prestigious awards over the
years since its establishment. It is Malaysia's fourth largest financial services group and enjoys
a wide presence across the ASEAN region. The Group has aspirations to emerge as one of the
top three financial services groups in the ASEAN region and in Hongkong by 2022.

The Group's entire range of financial products and services are made available to its customers
through its branches as well as its online banking platform.

Our core businesses are streamlined into seven Strategic Business Groups (SBGs):
e Group Retail Banking
e Group Business & Transaction Banking
e Group Wholesale Banking
e Group Shariah Business
e Group Insurance

e Group International Business
RHB Bank Lao Sole Co., Ltd

RHB Bank Lao Sole Co., Ltd (the Bank) is a commercial bank incorporated and registered in Lao
People’'s Democratic Republic (Lao P.D.R.).

The Bank is a limited company by 100% foreign investment under the laws of Lao P.D.R. The Bank
operates its banking business under the Law on Commercial Bank No. 56/NA, dated 7 December
2018 and under the regulations of Bank of Lao P.D.R (BOL). The Bank had received its revised
Banking License No.04/BOL dated 24 March 2021 (Replace Banking License No. 10/BOL dated
30 April 2014) and Enterprise Registration Certificate No.0628/ERA dated 19 April 2021, Replace
Enterprise Registration Certificate No.213/ERA dated 30 May 2014.

The principal activities of the Bank are to provide comprehensive banking and related financial
services in Lao P.D.R.

The Bank is 100% fully owned by RHB Bank Berhad. In November 2021, RHB Bank Berhad
additionally paid up a capital of LAK 39.700.012.500, therefore the registered capital of the Bank
increased from LAK 380.900.025.000 to LAK 420.600.037.500 with 41.850.750 (2020: 37.900.500)
shares at issue price of LAK 10.050 per share.

RHB Bank Laos Sole Co,. Ltd currently operates 3 branches in the capital of Vientiance as follows:

Main branch was established on 6th June 2014. The office is located at No. 01, House No0.008,
Kaysone Phomvihane Road, Phonxay Village, Saysettha District, Vientiane, Lao PDR.

The Sithan Neua Branch was established on 19th August, 2016. The office is located at Unit No.
06, Souphanouvong Road, Sithan Neua Village, Sikhottabong District, Vientiane Capital, Lao PDR.

The Dongdok branch was established on 26th January, 2018. The office is located at Unit No. 08,
Dongdok Road, Saphangmuek Village, Xaythany District, Vientiane Capital, Lao PDR.
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Products and Services

The Bank is established to conduct banking activities, which include mobilizing and receiving
short, medium and long term deposit funds from various organizations and individuals; lending on
a short, medium and long term basis to various organizations and individuals based on the nature
and repayment ability of the borrowers; conducting foreign currency transactions; providing
transaction services between customers; and other banking services as approved by the Bank
of Lao PDR (“BOL"), through the Bank’s Head Office and 2 branches in Vientiane Capital city.

The Bank offers a full range of retail and commercial banking products and services, including:

Current Account

Savings Account

Fixed Deposit

Remittance and Foreign Exchange
Housing Loan

Overdraft

Term Loan

Revolving Credit

Trade Finance Products and Services

Current Account

Our RHB Current Account is a powerful cash management tool as it can save you trips to
the bank to pay those bills and expenses. Manage your finances and enjoy these benefits:

Cheque book facility

-24hour ATM facility

Free ATM Card

Monthly statement for easy monitoring

Choice of account in LAK, USD or THB
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Savings Account

Our RHB Savings Account paves the way to save for your dream home, your car, your child’s
education or even a computer. Grow your family's finances and enjoy these benefits:

e Manage your account easily with a Savings Passbook
e -24hour ATM facility
e Free ATM Card
e Earn attractive interest rates - calculated daily, credited monthly
e Choice of account in LAK, USD or THB
Fixed Deposit

Our RHB Fixed Deposit offers with attractive interest rates and choice of tenure and is an
effective investment tool. Build your finances and enjoy these benefits:

e Earn attractive interest rates

e Tenure from 1 month onwards

e Short and long-term placements

e Auto renewal

e Choice of account in LAK, USD or THB
Remittance and Foreign Exchange

Our RHB Remittance can help you move your money within Lao PDR and around the world
efficiently and securely. Transfer funds with ease and enjoy these benefits:

e Choice of major currencies
e Competitive fees and charges

RHB Money Exchange Service allows you to buy and sell currencies such as LAK/USD/THB
at the best possible rates. Exchange your money with ease and enjoy these benefits:

e No fees

e Competitive exchange rates
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Housing Loan

RHB Housing Loan, with flexible options, is the key to owning your dream house. Get the
home of your dreams and enjoy these benefits:

e Financing up to %70 of the property value
e Loan period up to 20 years
e Attractive interest rates

Overdraft

RHB Overdraft facility is designed to meet your financing needs. Expand your business and
working capital, or build your business with us and enjoy these benefits:

e Meet short term financing gap that may arise from the business operating cycle
e Attractive interest rates
Term Loan

RHB Term Loan, with many value added features and flexible options, enables you to start a
new business, expand your current business or provides working capital. Build your business
with us and enjoy these benefits:

e Flexible repayment period of up to 10 years
e Attractive interest rates
Revolving Credit

RHB Revolving Credit is a short-term credit service designed to provide cash flow in a
timely manner to make up for periodic or seasonal fluctuations of your business. Suitable for
businesses with fluctuating or seasonal incomes. Manage your business with us and enjoy
these benefits:

e Meet short term financing gap that may arise from the business operating cycle

e Attractive interest rates
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Trade Finance Products and Services

RHB Trade Finance Products and Services help you in your import and export business; take
the burden and worry of non-delivery of goods away from you. Build your business by letting
our expertise work for you. Bank with us, we are here to get things done and help you enjoy
these advantages:

e Easy and fast process

e Help to collect your expert proceeds expeditiously
e Help to cut down the risk of business

o Competitive commission rates / charges

e Flexible term of payments
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Extra-Curricular Activities of RHB Bank Lao Sole Co,. Ltd.

Amidst the outbreak of Covid-19 and lockdown throughout the country, RHB Bank conducted
“The Journey of Progress” webinar via RHB Bank's official Facebook page to provide insights
of several topics regarding Business, Economics and Financial Literacy. We have started in
September 2021 and as of to-date hosted 10 episodes. Each episodes focuses on reputable
guests from respective sectors sharing their insights. The outcome of the activity gained as
much as 455,780 views. Below are few of the topics that were hosted thorough the webinar”.
This webinar published through RHB bank Lao Facebook page, started in September 2021
with total of 10 episodes. Each episode focus on interviewing guests who have experiences
in each sector to educate the public.

The outcome of the activity has gained 455,780 views and 16,347 video watching times.

Below are some examples of public reaction materials used for the show “The Journey of
progress’

RHB®Bank
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Market and Competition

According to World Bank report, since the beginning of COVID-19 outbreak, Lao PDR has not
recovered from the global economic downturn. The COVID-19-induced economic downturn has
affected Lao PDR through multiple channels including tourism, trade, investment, commodity
prices, exchange rates, and lower remittances. Given the uncertainty regarding the duration,
pervasiveness, and severity of the COVID-19 outbreak at both the global and domestic levels.
In this case, this will be the slowest economic growth rate of Lao PDR since 1990.

Despite banking sector generally affected due to business sectors who were also affected
by the pandemic, RHB Bank has participated in BOL's initiative by providing Repayment
Assistance our customers during this period of hardship encountered.

Risk Management Policies

The Bank’s business involves taking on risks in a targeted manner and managing them
professionally. The core functions of the Bank's risk management are to identify all key risks
for the Bank, measure these risks, manage the risk positions and determine capital allocations.
The Bank regularly reviews its risk management policies and systems to reflect changes in
markets, products and best market practice.

1. Credit Risk

Credit risk is the potential loss of revenue and principal in the form of specific provisions
as a result of defaults by the borrowers or counterparties through its lending and investing
activities. The primary exposure to credit risk arises through its loans and advances. The
amount of credit exposure in this regard is represented by the carrying amounts of the assets
on the balance sheet. The lending activities are guided by the Bank's credit policy to ensure
that the overall objectives in the area of lending are achieved i.e. that the loans portfolio
is strong and healthy and credit risks are well diversified. The credit policy documents are
the credit control and recovery manual, credit operations manual, and credit policy manual.
Creditrisk is the single largest risk for the Bank's business. Management therefore carefully
manages its exposure to credit risk.

2. Market Risk

Market risk is the risk of loss arising from adverse movement in the level of market prices or
rates, the two key components being foreign currency exchange risk and interest rate risk.

(v) Foreign currency exchange risk

Foreign currency exchange risk refers to the risk of adverse exchange rate movements on
foreign currency exchange positions taken from time to time. The Bank maintains a policy
of not exposing itself to large foreign exchange positions. Any foreign currency exchange
open positions are monitored against the operating requirements, predetermined position
limits and stop-loss limits.
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(vi) Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk refers to the volatility in net interest income as a result of changes in the
levels of interest rate and shifts in the composition of the assets and liabilities. Interest
rate risk is managed through close monitoring of returns on investment, market pricing
and cost of funds. The potential reduction in net interest income from an unfavourable
interest rate movement is monitored against the risk tolerance limits set.

3. Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk relates to the ability to maintain sufficient liquid assets to meet its financial
commitments and obligations when they fall due at a reasonable cost. The management
of the Bank closely monitors all inflows and outflows and maturity gaps. Movements in
loans and customers’ deposits are monitored and liquidity requirements adjusted to ensure
sufficient liquid assets to meet its financial commitments and obligations as and when they
fall due.
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Board of Directors and Organization Structure
The Bank’s Committees
(1). Board of Directors

As of 31 December 2021, the Board of Directors of RHB Bank Lao Sole Co., Ltd (“RHBBLL")
consisted of five members as follows:

No. Member Position

1 Mr. Chin Yoong Kheong Independent, Non-Executive Chairman

2 Ms. Samvutheary Mao Independent, Non-Executive Deputy
Chairman

3 Mr. Adissadikin Al Non-Independent, Non-Executive Director

4  Mr. Syed Ahmad Taufik Albar Non-Independent, Non-Executive Director

5 Mr. Choong Seang Heng Managing Director / Chief Executive Of-
ficer

The Company Secretary is Mr. Azman Shah Md Yaman
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Profile of the Board of Directors

CHIN YOONG KHEONG

Independent Non-Executive
Chairman

Malaysian

Chin Yoong Kheong (“Mr. Chin") was appointed
as an Independent Non-Executive Chairman of
RHBBLL on 22 July 2019. He is the Chairman of the
Board Nominating & Remuneration (Governance)
Committee, a Member of the Board Audit Committee
and Board Risk Committee.

Mr. Chin was appointed as an Independent Non-
Executive Director of RHB Investment Bank on 1
August 2016. Subsequently, on 30 September 2016,
he was appointed as the Senior Independent Non-
Executive Director. He also serves as the Chairman
of RHB Investment Bank's Board Risk Committee.

Mr. Chin holds a Bachelor of Arts with Honours in
Economics from the University of Leeds and is a
Fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants
in England and Wales. He is also a member of the
Malaysian Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and Malaysian Institute of Accountants. Mr. Chin
has retired as a partner of KPMG, one of the leading
accounting firms on 31 December 2013, after having
served the firm for more than 34 years in the United
Kingdom, Vietnam and Malaysia. Mr. Chin’s vast
experience covers business solutions in areas
such as strategy, human resources, performance
improvement to the public and infrastructure
sector, consumer and industrial markets, and
financial services industry. He was responsible for
establishing the KPMG practice in Vietnam and
subsequently headed KPMG's consulting practice
for more than 7 years.

Mr. Chin’s other directorships includes RHB Asset
Management Sdn Bhd, RHB Islamic International
Asset Management Berhad, RHB Securities
(Thailand) Public Company Limited, RHB Securities
Vietnam Company Limited, RHB Bank (Cambodia)
Plc, RHB Securities (Cambodia) Plc and Ayer
Holdings Berhad, a company listed on the Kuala
Lumpur Stock Exchange.
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Ms. Samvutheary Mao

Independent Non-Executive
Director

Cambodian

Board of Directors and Organization Structure

Samvutheary Mao (“Ms. Samvutheary”) was
appointed as an Independent Non-Executive
Director of RHBBLL on 6 May 2019. She is the
Chairman of Board Audit Committee, a Member of
the Board Nominating & Remuneration (Governance)
Committee and Board Risk Committee

Ms. Samvutheary is the Founding Partner and
Managing Director of HML Law Group & Consultants.
She specializes in banking, commercial transaction,
land transaction, employment, telecommunication,
hotel and resort, mediation, litigation and good
networking with all sectors involved including
government officers. With more than 20 years of
experience with a PhD Degree in Political Science,
Master of Law, she is regarded as an eminent
attorney in Cambodia with valued knowledge and
experience to effectively resolve clients’ issues.

As a corporate and litigation attorney, Ms.
Samvutheary represents clients in hundreds of
complex cases both for private and public entities.
She had successfully represented various banks in
recovery of large US dollar loans, and was appointed
as a senior lawyer to various commercial banks. In
addition, she had represented the largest Cambodian
entertainment company for its Initial Public Offering
(“IPO") valued at USD369.0 million for its listing on
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and became the
first Cambodian company to issue offshore bonds
raising USD300.0 million.

Ms. Samvutheary’s other directorships include
RHB Bank (Cambodia) Plc and RHB Securities
(Cambodia) Plc.
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Dato’ Adissadikin Ali (“Dato’ Adissadikin”) was
appointed as the Non-Independent Non-Executive
Director of RHBBLL on 15 October 2019. He is a
Member of the Board Nominating & Remuneration
(Governance) Committee.

Dato’ Adissadikin was appointed as the Managing
Director/ Chief Executive Officer (“MD/ CEO") of
RHB Islamic Bank on 1 August 2016. He started
his career with the Renong Group of Companies
in various positions within the Group. In 1999, he
joined Pengurusan Danaharta Nasional Berhad,
the National Asset Management arm which was
established as a pre-emptive measure to avert
the deterioration of Malaysia's banking industry.
After four years with Danaharta, Dato’ Adissadikin
joined Bank Muamalat Malaysia Berhad as Special
Assistant to the Chief Executive Officer.

DATO’ ADISSADIKIN ALI

Thereon, Dato’ Adissadikin accumulated experience
in formulating and executing corporate strategic
plan, business process re-engineering as well
Malaysian as bank-wide transformation programme. Dato’
Adissadikin was involved in the turn-around of Bank
Islam Malaysia Berhad.

Non-Independent, Non-Executive
Director

He was appointed the President/ Chief Executive
Officer of Export-Import Bank of Malaysia (EXIM)
in October 2010 and served until June 2015. Prior to
joining RHB Banking Group in August 2016, he was
the Chief Executive Officer at Alkhair International
Islamic Bank Berhad, the first foreign Islamic Bank
in Malaysia.

Dato’ Adissadikin’s other directorships include
RHB Bank (Cambodia) Plc and RHB Securities
(Cambodia) Plc.
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Syed Ahmad Taufik Albar

Non-Independent, Non-Executive
Director

Malaysian

Board of Directors and Organization Structure

Syed Ahmad Taufik Albar (“Mr Taufik”) was
appointed as a Non-Independent, Non-Executive
Director of RHB Bank Lao Sole Co., Ltd (“RHBBLL")
on 25 May 2021. He is the Chairman of Board Risk
Committee and a Member of Board Audit Committee.

He was appointed as Managing Director, Group
International Business on 2 February 2021. In this
role, Mr. Taufik's main responsibility is to oversee the
growth and performance of the Group's international
businesses which covers commercial, investment
banking and asset management, synergising the
functions and resources across the Group and within
the countries that RHB is present. Taufik will also
oversee the non-Retail Loan Recovery business with
a focus of boosting recovery efforts.

Prior to this appointment, he was the Group Chief
Financial Officer since 1 December 2016.

Mr. Taufik has more than 20 years of experience as a
finance professional with domestic and international
exposures in Oil & Gas, mobile telecommunications
and infrastructure and banking. He started his career
in finance with Shell and worked in various Shell
offices in Malaysia, Australia and the Netherlands.
He has also held various Finance positions in Axiata
Group including as Chief Financial Officer of Smart
Axiata in Cambodia. Prior to joining RHB, he was the
Group Chief Financial Officer of UEM Group Berhad.

Mr. Taufik holds Master of Economics and Bachelor
of Accounting degrees from International Islamic
University Malaysia. He is a fellow of Chartered
Institute of Management Accountant (CIMA) and a
member of Malaysian Institute of Accountants (MIA).

Mr Taufik's other directorships include RHB Bank
(Cambodia) Plc and RHB Securities Vietnam
Company Limited.
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Choong Seang Heng

Managing Director / Chief
Executive Officer

Malaysian

Choong Seang Heng (“Mr Frankie Choong") was
appointed as the Chief Executive Officer of RHB Bank
Lao Sole Co., Ltd (“RHBBLL") on 1 November 2020
and as a Non-Independent, Non-Executive Director
on 25 May 2021.

Previously, Mr Frankie Choong was the Deputy
Chief Executive Officer of RHBBLL with effect from
1 February 2020.

He joined RHB Bank Bhd,on 18 August 1989. He
has more than 30 years' experience in the Banking
Industry with proven track record in Retail &
Commercial Banking and Bank Sales & Services.
As the Chief Executive Officer, Mr Frankie Choong
is responsible for the overall growth and profitability
of RHBBLL.

Mr Frankie Choong holds a Master in Business
and Administration from University Utara Malaysia,
Bachelor of Art in Psychology and Communication
from University Kebangsaan Malaysia and a Certified
Financial Planner of Financial Planning Association
of Malaysia.
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Key Responsibilities

The Board is in charge with leading and governing the Company in an effective, efficient and
responsible manner. The Directors, collectively and individually, are aware of their responsibilities
to shareholders/ stakeholders and the manner in which the affairs of the Company are managed.
They discharge their roles and duties with integrity, honesty and professionalism within the ambit
of the law to serve the interest of the Company’s shareholders and stakeholders, and ensure the
Company adheres to the highest standards of corporate governance.

The Board assumes an active role and takes full responsibility for key strategy setting, business
plans, financial objectives and major capital and operating budgets. While the Board scrutinizes
the frameworks and policies proposed by the Management, the Board also monitors the
Management'’s performance in implementing the adopted strategies as well as provides direction
and advice to ensure the achievement of the objectives.

Rights and Duties of the Board of Directors
Without limiting the generality thereof, the Board of Directors has the following rights and duties:

1. To elaborate on and implement resolutions of the Shareholders’ meeting;

2. To determine the strategy, policy, administrative management, risk management, audit
and other policies related to the Bank's business operations;

3. To approve the Rules and Operations manuals recommended by the Board of Directors’
Committees;

4. To be responsible for commercial bank activities in accordance with relevant law and
regulations;

5. To receive the information promptly and properly on the credit, important risk, loan and
asset classification, loan provision and asset depreciation and risks arose by asset which
may causes damage to a commercial bank from time to time;

6. To explain, answer [question related], and provide detailed information on the operations
at the Shareholders' meeting;

7. To recommend the division of profits into funds and the allocation of dividends at the
Shareholders' meeting for consideration;

8. To propose business plans at the Shareholders’ meeting for consideration and approval;
9. To appoint the Board of Directors’ committee;
10. To appoint or remove the Managing Director/ Chief Executive Officer;

11. To approve the appointment of Deputy Managing Director(s)/ Deputy Chief Executive
Officer(s), based on the recommendation of the Managing Director/ Chief Executive
Officer;
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12. To report on the operations of the Bank at the Shareholders’ meeting;

13. To exercise such other rights and perform such other duties as provided in the charter of
the Bank.

Meetings & Minutes

e The Board shall meet at least once in every three (3) months, or more as and when/
required.

e Subject to relevant laws and guidelines, the quorum of the meetings shall not be less
than half of the total number of the Directors.

e The Board may convene meetings at any place in Lao or any other country.
e The Board is also allowed to approve resolutions by way of circulation.

Board Audit Committee

As of 31 December 2021, the Board Audit Committee consisted of three members as follows:

No. Member Position
1 Ms. Samvutheary Mao Chairman
2 Mr. Chin Yoong Kheong Committee
3 Mr. Syed Ahmad Taufik Albar Committee

The Company Secretary is Mr. Azman Shah Md Yaman
Key Responsibilities

1. The Board Audit Committee (“the Committee’) is directly accountable to the Board and
the Board will continue to be accountable for all matters relating to RHBBLL. Whilst the
Committee reports to the Board, all minutes are to be tabled to RHB Bank Berhad's Board
Audit Committee as part of the Group oversight requirements. Audit reports will also be
given as and when required by RHB Bank Berhad’s Board Audit Committee.

2. To ensure that the Internal Audit Department is distinct and has the appropriate status
within the overall organizational structure for the internal auditors to effectively accomplish
their audit objectives.

3. Toreview the effectiveness of internal controls and risk management processes including
the scope of the internal audit program and the appropriateness of the risk assessment
methodology employed to determine the frequency and scope of audits.

4. Toensure that the reporting relationship of the internal audit staff do notimpede the exercise
of independent judgement by the internal auditors. In particular, the reports of internal
auditors should be subject to the clearance of the Managing Director/ Chief Executive
Officer or any Executive Directors.
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5. To ensure that all findings and recommendations are resolved effectively and in a timely
manner.

6. To make appropriate public disclosure of the terms of reference and the activities of the
Committee in the entity's financial statements, if required.

7. Toreview quarterly results and year-end financial statements and to recommend the same
to the Board for approval whilst ensuring that it is prepared in a timely and accurate manner
complying with all applicable accounting and regulatory requirements and are promptly
published.

8. To regularly review the adequacy of provisions made and to recommend the same to the
Boards for approval.

9. To review any related party transaction and conflict of interest situation that may arise,
including any transaction, procedure or course of conduct that raises questions of the
Management integrity.

10. To review with the external and internal auditors whether the employees of RHBBLL have
given them appropriate assistance in discharging their duties.

11. To review the adequacy of the scope, functions and resources of the Internal Audit function
and that it has the necessary authority to carry out its work.

12. To review and approve the Internal Audit plan, audit charter and the budget for the audit plan.

13. To ensure that Internal Audit staff receives necessary training to perform audit work. There
shall be a program of continuing education and training to enable the internal auditors to
keep abreast of business trends and latest developments at both the institution and industry
levels, as well as to enhance technical skills required to effectively support the audit function.

14. To appraise the performance of the Head of Internal Audit and to review the appraisals of
senior staff members of the Internal Audit function.

15. To approve any appointment or termination of the Head of Internal Audit or senior staff
members of the Internal Audit function and to review any resignations of Internal Audit
staff members and provide resigning staff members an opportunity to submit reasons for
resigning, where necessary.

16. To review with the external auditors, the nature and scope of their audit plan, their evaluation
of the system of internal controls and their management letter and discuss any matter that
the external auditors may wish to raise in the absence of management, where necessary.

17. To recommend to the Board on the appointment and the annual re-appointment of
the external auditors and assessing their audit fees, after taking into consideration the
independence and obijectivity of the external auditors and the cost effectiveness of their
audit.
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18.

19.

To discuss and review with the external auditors any proposal from them to resign as auditors.

To investigate reasons for any request made by the Management to dismiss the external
auditors, or any resignation by the external auditors. The results of the investigation shall be
disclosed to the Board together with the recommendations on proposed actions to be taken.

20. To review non-audit services rendered by the external auditors together with the related fees

21,

22,

23.

24,

and thereafter approving or recommending the same to the Board for approval (whichever
relevant), in accordance with the Group Policy on Non-Audit Fees payable to the external
auditors.

To review the co-ordination of audit activities between external and internal auditors.

To review inspection and examination reports issued by any regulatory authority and to
ensure prompt and appropriate actions are taken in respect of any findings.

To review the minutes of meetings of management audit committees or other relevant
committee (if any) within RHBBLL to the extent permitted by the relevant regulatory
authorities and be satisfied that all matters arising therefrom are being appropriately
addressed by these management audit committees.

To perform any other functions as authorized by the Boards.

Rights and Duties of Board Audit Committee

The Board Audit Committee shall at the minimum have the following rights and duties:

1.

To establish and amend policies regarding financial report and internal controls system
inspection, accounting, information system including an internal audit of commercial bank
in order to present to the Board of Directors for approval;

To give guidance on establishment and amendment of manuals and present to the Board
of Directors for approval and to monitor, inspect and report to the board of director about
the implementation of the manuals;

To inspect the operations activities of a commercial bank including execution of business
plan, resolutions of Board of Directors’ meeting in accordance with the manual and internal
rules and law;

To determine qualification requirement of internal auditors;

To approve the engagement or termination of an external audit firm and determine the
scope of the audit as agreed by the Board of Directors;

To monitor and assess the quality of service of the external audit company, independence
in relation to all relationships between the independent external auditor and the Bank;
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7. To request for the annual audited financial report and quarterly financial report, internal
audit report and external audit report with relevant management and the independent
external auditor for checking and discuss on the matters;

8. To provide advice for audit related matters

9. To monitor and inspect the administrators’ efforts to correct deficiencies described in an
audit examination;

10. To discuss with legal consultants, accounting consultants and other advisors as agreed by
the board of director;

11. To deliver opinions on the issues raised by the Board of Directors and administrators

12. To summarize and evaluate its annual performance;

13. To report its performance to the Board of Directors from time to time;

14. Perform rights and other related duties determined in law and regulations.
Meetings & Minutes

e The Committee shall preferably meet at least once every two months or whenever
deemed necessary at the discretion of the Chairman;

e The quorum of the meetings shall be at least two (2) members or %50 of the total
members, whichever is higher;

¢ The Committee may convene meetings at any place in Lao or any other country;
e The Committee is also allowed to approve resolutions by way of circulation;

e Resolutions, proposals and matters tabled for approvals at any meeting of the
Committee shall be decided by majority of the members present; and

e The Company Secretary shall act as Secretary of the Committee and shall be
responsible for:

— Drawing up the agenda with the concurrence of the Chairman

— Writing and safe-keeping the minutes of meeting and submission to Board.
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(2) Board Risk Committee

As of 31 December 2021, the Board Risk Committee consisted of three members as follows:

No. Member Position
1 Mr. Syed Ahmad Taufik Albar Chairman
2 Ms. Samvutheary Mao Committee
3 Mr. Chin Yoong Kheong Committee

The Company Secretary is Mr. Azman Shah Md Yaman

Key Responsibilities

Risk Strategy

1.

To provide risk oversight and guidance to RHBBLL's business operations through the support
of an effective internal risk management framework and sound risk strategies.

To review and recommend, risk management policies and procedures, controls and systems
of RHBBLL in line with the approved risk management philosophy and strategy of RHBBLL
and RHB Group.

To ensure that RHBBLL's business and operations are in line with RHBBLL's and the overall
RHB Group's risk strategy and profile

To deliberate and assess the nature and materiality of the risk exposures and its impact on
RHBBLL's capital and business.

Recommending new/ existing products with material variations in product features to the
Board for approval.

Risk Organization

1.

2.

3.

4,

To oversee the overall management of risks covering market risk management, asset and
liability management, credit risk management, operational risk management and compliance
with the relevant laws and regulations

To establish clear and independent reporting lines and responsibilities for the overall
business activities and risk management and control functions.

To cultivate a proactive risk management and compliance culture within RHBBLL, so that
risk management processes are applied in the day-to-day business and activities.

To supervise the independent review of the RHBBLL's risk management infrastructure,
capabilities, environment and processes where necessary.




RHB® RHB BANK LAO SOLE CO., LTD Board of Directors and Organization Structure

Rights and Duties of Board Risk Committee

To avoid or reduce risks that may occur to the Bank, the Board Risk Committee shall, at the
minimum, have the following rights and duties:

1. To establish and amend policies regarding the risk management of commercial bank and
recommend to the Board of Directors for approval;

2. To give guidance on establishment and amendment of manuals and present to the Board
of Directors for approval and to monitor, inspect and report to the Board of Director about
the implementation of the manuals;

3. To determine the eligible requirement of the risk management officer;

4. To deliver opinions on any matters submitted to it by the Board of Directors or that it wishes
to address;

5. To summarizes and evaluate its annual performance;

6. To report its performance to the Board of Director from time to time; and

7. To perform rights and other related duties determined in law and regulations.
Meetings & Minutes

e The Committee shall preferably meet at least once every two months or whenever
deemed necessary at the discretion of the Chairman;

¢ The quorum of the meetings shall be at least two (2) members or %50 of the total
members, whichever is higher;

e The Committee may convene meetings at any place in Lao or any other country;
e The Committee is also allowed to approve resolutions by way of circulation;

e Resolutions, proposals and matters tabled for approvals at any meeting of the
Committee shall be decided by majority of the members present; and

e The Company Secretary shall act as Secretary of the Committee and shall be
responsible for:

— Drawing up the agenda with the concurrence of the Chairman

— Writing and safe-keeping the minutes of meeting and submission to Board.
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Board Nominating & Remuneration (Governance) Committee

As of 31 December 2021, the Board Nominating & Remuneration (Governance) Committee
("BNR(G)C") consisted of three members as follows:

No. Member Position
1 Mr. Chin Yoong Kheong Chairman
2 Ms. Samvutheary Mao Committee
3 Mr. Adissadikin Ali Committee

The Company Secretary is Mr. Azman Shah Md Yaman

Key Responsibilities

The terms of reference of the RHBBLL's BNR(G)C with regard to its nomination roles are as follows:

1.

To establish a documented procedure for the appointment of Directors, Board Committee
members and key Senior Management officers.

To establish and recommend for Board's approval, minimum requirements for Directors
and key Senior Management officers.

To establish and recommend for Board's approval, the optimal size and mix of skills to
ensure efficient operation of the Committee.

To assess and recommend for Board's approval, new and re-appointed nominees for
directorship, Board Committee members and key Senior Management officers.

To establish and recommend for Board's approval, the expectations on time commitment
for the Board members and protocols for accepting new directorships.

To establish and recommend for Board's approval, a mechanism for the formal assessment
of the Board's performance as a whole, each Director and key Senior Management officers.

To review performance assessment results and recommend to the Board, the removal of
any Director or key Senior Management officer found to be ineffective, errant and negligent
in the discharge or responsibilities.

To ensure Directors and Board Committee members receive appropriate induction and
continuous training programs for closure of skills gaps and keeping abreast with latest
developments.

To establish and recommend for Board's approval, the criteria assess independence of
independent directors.
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10. To assess annually the independence of Independent Directors and that the Directors and
officers of RHBBLL meet the identified independence criteria and are not disqualified under
relevant regulations.

11. To review and recommend for Board's approval, any significant change in the organization
structure of the RHBBLL.

12. Whenever key expatriates are employed, to ensure there is in place a process for the transfer
of expertise and skills from the expatriates to the staff of RHBBLL.

13. To recommend to the Board, a policy regarding the period of service for the Executive and
Non-Executive Directors.

14. To perform any other functions as defined by the Board.
Reporting Structure

The Board Nominating & Remuneration (Governance) Committee (‘the Committee”) is directly
accountable to Board and the Board will continue to be accountable for all matters relating to
RHBBLL. Whilst the Committee reports to the Board, all minutes of meeting are to be tabled to
RHB Bank Berhad's Board Nominating & Remuneration Committee as part of the Group oversight
requirements.

The terms of reference of the BNR(G)C with regard to its remuneration roles are as follows: -

1. To ensure the establishment of formal and transparent procedures for developing
Remuneration and HR policies, strategies and frameworks for Directors, key Senior
Management officers (which entails MD/ Chief Executive Officer and persons as may be
determined by the Committee) and staff.

2. To recommend remuneration strategies, policies & framework and specific remuneration
packages for directors, board committee members and key senior management officers,
which would be (where relevant):

a. Market competitive and in support of the Group's culture, vision, objectives and strategy;
b. Reflective of the responsibilities and commitment required;
c. Sufficient to attract and retain quality people but yet not excessive;

d. Performance driven with sufficient emphasis on long term development of RHBBLL to
avoid excessive short-term risk taking

The framework should cover all aspects of remuneration including directors’ fees, salaries,
allowances, bonuses, option and benefit-in-kind.

3. To ensure HR strategies, policies and frameworks are in place for all the building blocks
of a quality HR management system (e.g., succession planning, talent and leadership
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6.

development training, etc.) to support the RHBBLL in achieving its objectives.

To review and assess the effectiveness of the GHR and/or HR Division in supporting the
RHBBLL.

To review and recommend for Board approval, any significant change in the organization
structure of RHBBLL.

To perform any other functions as defined by the Board.

Rights and Duties of Board Nominating & Remuneration (Governance) Com-
mittee

The Committee shall, at the minimum have the following rights and duties:

1.

10.

1.

To study the establishment and amendment of the policy related the human resource
management, determine the ethical rules, principles and management election process,
remuneration of management team in order to present to the Board of Directors for approval;

To give guidance on establishment and amendment of the manuals to present to the Board
of Directors for approval and also to monitor, inspect and report to the Board of Directors
the implementation of such manuals;

To determine the eligible requirements of the governance managers;

To select, recommend for the appointment or removal of Managing Director/ CEO and
Internal Audit and recommend (them) to the Board of Directors for appointment in
accordance with established criteria;

To consider appointment of Deputy MD/ DCEO, Head of Departments, branch managers
as recommended by the Managing Director in order to present to the Board of Directors
for approval;

To determine requirements and working plan for performance assessment of Board of
Director and administrators;

To propose to the board of director regarding determination of penalty to administrators
who breach the company’s rules;

To propose to the board of director regarding removal of an administrator who is not qualified
or not suitable to continue to hold the position;

To summarize and evaluate its annual performance;
To report its performance to the board of director from time to time;

To perform rights and other related duties determined in relevant law and regulations.
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Meetings & Minutes

The Committee shall preferably meet at least once every two months or whenever
deemed necessary at the discretion of the Chairman

The quorum of the meetings shall be at least two (2) members or %50 of the total
members, whichever is higher;

The Committee may convene meetings at any place in Lao or other country
The Committee is also allowed to carry out resolution by way of circulation.

Resolutions, proposals and matters tabled for approvals at any meeting of the
Committee shall be decided by majority of the members present; and the secretary
shall be the Group Company Secretary or an official from Group Secretariat Division.

The Company Secretary shall act as Secretary of the Committee and shall be
responsible for:

— Drawing up the agenda with the concurrence of the Chairman

— Writing and safe-keeping the minutes of meeting and submission to Board.
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Management Team

As of 31 December 2021, the Management team of RHB Bank Lao Sole Co,. Ltd. consisted of the
following:

No.
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Name
Choong Seang Heng

Ong Chong Seng
Chanpheng Chandavong
Phonepasong Mixab
Somphavanh Bounyasith
Bounyared Luangraj
Anouphong Southivong
Souphaphone Souannavong
Vilaphonh Manivanh
Vinattha Phasathane

Pem Khammoungkhoun
Phannavy Anoulack
Oulayvanh Siphandone
Kaysone Malaythong
Tanvinay Nguansavanh
Keobounthan Xongchaikhua
Thonglay Phonvilaisouk
Mayulin Sithongkham

Position
Chief Executive Officer

Head, Credit Management

Senior Manager, Credit Evaluation

Senior Manager, Loan & Credit Administration
Senior Manager, Operations and Support
Senior Manager, Risk Management

Senior Manager, Human Resource and Training
Senior Manager, Business Development and Marketing
Manager, Information Technology

Manager, Compliance

Manager, Finance and Administration

Manager, Credit Evaluation

Manager, Frontline Operations

Assistant Manager, Frontline Operations
Manager, Sithan Neua Branch

Assistant Manager, Sithan Neua Branch
Manager, Dongdok Branch

Assistant Manager, Dongdok Branch




st
(72}
c [Ea—_—
e sausar wno Spr voL.
@ B
N sy ey
= o>
@ o pey 8oL,
S
o s9rq wn yomdsaq
[E———
C s
Suosequey e
@
(2] Fuormua r—
(4 s oy FE— o oS0
o WP WA
..O. oL Suosedey uodety
P} pmorgues v
S
= [ —. oo swspy Suosuong ery
(a) [—
S asy —
Y— ampnasegup
n R p—
(] 1= oy el TR FEROA
WD D s
= uorvummywos .
% P R —
P —— ot
& —  dpory R A tsos
aouso wn §prT vaL. byl S Jom> Arpoud
faur et e Fupaweiy Buainks aanyse; APy,
TR R pue Aaq ssauisng 1290 (RIS ool LEETD) WPaI) ¥ SUBOT 4O
G
aamse) o oSO AP L P rtern) 1010 Hpa1) WO
Suonen edmog opunog Aexsg o o PRI AT ¢
usgnos surpesag
JR——
RAS—p— Pr—— e R pm— Sty Fuhonig oo fprsmong
sy 1 oy e oG [—— 1 g e, Suoduosigg
S0 NN
JudwaBEuE Bupaysegy pue suopeiad. suopraado WPV Py uopenjeAy
—— o0 pat 43
1 exBoogy usiduio) 49w0 P — A0q ssausng “aagnoxg sumuolg 1250 oupuosg 1m0 ¥ sueoy oagnooxy Wpas “aapmaaxy 1021000 UPD 132WO.
wopen sy
P ouewy ‘aapnraxg “Hoddng’
3 suopesad() 422m0
e ey eppEROx
Kexeyepy auoyduiog IPRLOS W uEpUNOGoIY Suogieep suosiey ynoyuesig Kexnounyauog Founouy Axvuuey g ‘wppnogdiy L. Aiepnog.
Sueag 3 Moo 3 Bupssarosg wopenpeAy
aosmug g 1 103 Wpas 3o
A aapmaav oo I o 155y B e e P o) ) a3y
7 I I

[ — Supesgg EEA fostumn pasedunog do F——— [ y— upuedss yusaiong g Tuosedavoy Suormpur) Ruayduey) =N

Sudg Suow) 30

oSy Wpar> Prof

T ———

Suoi Suwas Juoou)

WADLLIO IALLNDAXA 4ATHD

RHB BANK LAO SOLE CO., LTD

'SMOJ||0} SB SBM 24N}ONJIS Uoljeziuebio s,1eis ayl ‘1z0z 1oquiadaq LE Jo Sy

*ainjona}s uoneziuebiQ (g)



Board of Directors and Organization Structure RHB BANK LAO SOLE CO., LTD | RHB®

Rights and Duties of Chief Executive Officer / Deputy Chief Executive
Officer

The Chief Executive Officer is responsible for day-to-day operations of the Bank in accordance
with the rights and duties defined in the internal regulations of the Bank.

The Chief Executive Officer is appointed and may be removed by the Board of Directors, has
a term of office of three years, and may be re-appointed consecutively not more than 3 times.

The Chief Executive Officer can be a member of the Board of Directors, but shall not be the
Chairperson or a Deputy Chairperson of the Board of Directors or a chairman of any board
committee.

The Chief Executive Officer shall have the following rights and duties:

1.

10.

1.

12.

13.

To act as the representative of, and to sign contracts and other official documents on
behalf of the Bank

To manage day-to-day operations of the Bank

To develop and propose, or to propose adjustment to, the annual business plan to the
Board of Directors for consideration and approval, and then to implement such plan;

To appoint or remove the Deputy General Managing Director (DMD/DCEQ) and then to
propose to the Board of Directors for approval;

To appoint or remove the Head of Department or Branch Managers

To allocate employees of the bank according to his/her authority or according to proposal
of the board of director Committee;

To appoint, remove, recruit and deploy the employees of the Bank;

To provide data and information and to give explanation on particular issues of interests
to the Board of Directors;

To develop and improve governance regulations and to propose [them] to the Board of
Directors for consideration and approval;

To be responsible to the Board of Directors for all operations of the Bank;

To recommend to the Board of Directors for consideration and approval, the establishment
of branches and affiliates or investments in other businesses;

To determine the salary structure for, and to implement reward policies and sanctions
towards the employees of the Bank, in accordance with regulations of the Bank;

To cooperate with, and to provide data, information and explanations, to the internal audit
committee and external auditors;
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14. To provide explanations and necessary documents as required by the Board of Directors;

15. To report on the operations of the Bank to the Board of Directors and its committees;

16. To exercise other rights, and perform other duties as provided under the regulations.
Company Secretary

The Board acknowledges and is satisfied with the performance and support rendered by
the Company Secretary. In addition to acting as the custodian of the Company'’s statutory
records, the Company Secretary serves and advises the Board on matters relating to the
affairs of the Board and good corporate governance practices, ensure that Board meetings
are appropriately convened and maintains an accurate and proper record of the proceedings
and minutes of the meetings.

In promoting good corporate governance practices, the Company Secretary assists the Board
and Senior Management in meeting regulatory requirements and best practices specifically
pertaining to Board governance. This includes making proposals on transparency and
mandatory/voluntary disclosure on governance issues which are relevant and materially
important to the stakeholders.

The role of the Company Secretary also includes assisting the Chairman and Directors in
conducting meetings and discharging their governance obligations and responsibilities as
Directors of the Company. Additionally, the Company Secretary facilitates the communication of
key decisions and policies between the Board, Board Committees and the Senior Management,
updating the Board on the follow-up or implementation of decisions/recommendations.

In order to play an effective advisory role to the Board, the Company Secretary is kept abreast
with the latest, industry developments and best practices in corporate governance.
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MESSAGE FROM THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

RHB Bank Lao Sole Co,, Ltd (the Bank) is a commercial bank incorporated and registered in
Lao People’'s Democratic Republic (Lao P.D.R.).

The Bank is a limited company by 100% foreign investment under the laws of Lao P.D.R. The
Bank operates its banking business under the Law on Commercial Bank No. 56/NA, dated 7
December 2018 and under the regulations of Bank of Lao P.D.R (BOL). The Bank had received
its revised Banking License No.04/BOL dated 24 March 2021 (Replace Banking License No.
10/BOL dated 30 April 2014) and Enterprise Registration Certificate No.0628/ERA dated 19
April 2021, Replace Enterprise Registration Certificate No.213/ERA dated 30 May 2014.

On behalf of the Board of Directors (the BOD) of RHB Bank Lao Sole Co., Ltd (the Bank) are
responsible for ensuring that the financial statements are required to:

i) adoptappropriate accounting policies which are supported by reasonable and prudent
judgments and estimates and then apply them consistently;

ii) comply in accordance with accounting policies of the Bank and the relevant accounting
regulations and notifications of BOL described in Note 2 to the financial statements
and ensure that these have been, appropriately disclosed, explained and quantified
in the financial statements;

i) maintain adequate accounting records and an effective system of internal controls;

iv) prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis unless it is inappropriate
to assume that the Bank will continue operations for the foreseeable future; and

v) effectively control and direct the Bank and be involved in all material decisions affecting
the operations and performance of the Bank, and ascertain that such decisions have
been properly reflected in the financial statements.

We confirm that the Bank has complied with the above requirements in preparing the financial
statements as at and for the year ended 31 December 2021.

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors
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RHB Bank Lao

Choong Seang Heng
Chief Executive Officer
23 February 2022




RHB® RHB BANK LAO SOLE CO., LTD Independent Auditor's Report

Independent Auditor’s Report to the Share holders and Board of Directors of
RHB Bank Lao Sole Co,, Ltd

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements of RHB Bank Lao Sole Co., Ltd (the Bank) for the year
ended 31 December 2021 are prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the relevant
accounting regulations and notifications of Bank of the Lao People's Democratic Republic
and accounting policies as described in Note 2 to the financial statements.

What we have audited

The Bank’s financial statements comprise:
e the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021;
e the statement of income for the year then ended;
¢ the statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;
o the statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and

¢ the notes to the financial statements, which include significant accounting policies
and other explanatory information.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities
for the audit of the financial statements section of our report.

We believe that audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Bank in accordance with the International Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards) issued by the
International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants (IESBA Code). We have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code.
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Emphasis of Matter - Basis of accounting and restriction on distribution
and use

We draw attention to Note 2 to the financial statements, which describes the basis of
accounting. The financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting policies
described in Note 2 to the financial statements. As a result, the financial statements may not
be suitable for another purpose.

Our report is intended solely for the Bank and should not be distributed to or used by parties
other than the Bank. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

Responsibilities of the directors for the financial statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements in accordance
with the relevant accounting regulations and notifications of Bank of Lao People's Democratic
Republic and accounting policies described in Note 2 to the financial statements, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Bank’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends
to liquidate the Bank or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance,
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

¢ Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide
a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
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e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Bank’s internal control.

¢ Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern
basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up
to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Bank to cease to continue as a going concern.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

For PricewaterhouseCoopers (Lao) Sole Company Limited

SoIeL i%(;gpany :%A N
By Apisit Thiengtrongpinyo
Partner

Vientiane, Lao P.D.R.

23 February 2022




